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APPOINTED ACTUARY'S REPORT
RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
2025 ANNUAL REPORT

Role of the Appointed Actuary
The Appainted Actuary is;

a appointed by the Board of Directors of RBC Life Insurance Company (the “Company”};

= responsible for ensuring that the assumptions and methods for the valuation of policy liabilities and reinsurance recoverables
are in accordance with accepted actuarial practice, applicable legislation, and associated regulations and directives;

= required to provide an opinion on the appropriateness of the policy liabilities, net of reinsurance recoverables, at the Balance
Sheet date to meet all policy obligations of the Cornpany. The work to form that opinion ‘includes an examination of the
sufficiency and reliability of policy data; and

« required each year to analyse the financial condition of the Company and prepare a report for the Board of Directors. The
analysis tests the capital adequacy of the Company for a five year period under adverse economic and business conditions,

Appointed Actuary’s Report

To the policyholders and shareholder of RBC Life Insurarice Company:

i { have valued the policy liabilities of RBC Life Insurance Company for its financial statements prepared in accordance.
' with International Financial Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 October 2025.

Inmy opinion, the:amount of policy liabilities is appropriate for this purpose. The valuation conforms to accepted
actuarial practice in Canada and the financial statements fairly present the results of the valuation.

Rachel Li
Mississauga, Ontario Rachel Li
December 16, 2025 Fellow, Canadian Institute of Actuaries

* Staternent of Financial Positiori is in lieu of Balance Sheet terminology under IFRS reporting
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Independent auditor’s report

To the Policyholders and Shareholders of RBC Life Insurance Company

Our opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of RBC Life Insurance Company (the Company) as at October 31, 2025 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards).

What we have audited

The Company’s financial statements comprise:

« the balance sheet as at October 31, 2025;

«  the statement of income and comprehensive income for the year then ended;
«  the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

« the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

«  the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other

explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of

the financial statements section of our report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PwC Tower, 18 York Street, Suite 2500

Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 0B2

T.: +1 416 863 1133, F.: +1 416 365 8215

Fax to mail: ca_toronto_18_york_fax@pwc.com

“PwC" refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership




We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance

with these requirements.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends.to liquidate the Company or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free.
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the

basis of these financial statements.




As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company's internal control.

+  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by management.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’sreport to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,

future events.or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

»  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, ineluding the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and eventsina

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit:

%%W@M LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants

Toronto, Ontario

December 17, 2025




RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

Balance Sheet
(in €$ millions)

Note Octaber 31, October 31,
2025 2024
ASSETS
.Cash and cash equivalents 4 229 180
lhvestments and loans, net of applicable allowances 5 20,409 18,920
Investments and loans, sold under asset repurchase agreement 5 3,667 2,598
Investments, securities on loan 5 514 545
Insurance contract assets 11 k] 22
Reinsurance contract assets 11 1,773 1,757
intangible assets Q0 98
Other assets, nét of applicable allowances 13 764 ‘499
Deferred income taxes 14 551 576
Segregated fund net assets 12 3,810 3,378
Total assats 31,816 28,573
LIABILITIES
iarlscl;rj:x;g:tcl::t liabilities - excluding segregated funds 11 20,537 19,109
Insurance contract liabilities - ségregated funds account balances 11 3,810 3,378
Total insurance contract liabilities 24,347 22,487
investment contract liabilities 5 36 40
Reinsurance contract liabilities 11 10 20
Other liabilities i3 310 315
Obligation related to assets sold under asset repurchase agreement 18 3,625 2,621
Total liabilities 28,328 25,483
‘EQUITY
‘Share capital 15 2,411 2,351
Other components of equity 164 131
Retained earnings 913 608
Total equity 3,488 3,090
Total liabilities and equity 31,815 28,573
The uccompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
Approved by the Beard.of Directors
Ririo I'Onofrio Yaniv Bitton
Director Diréctor
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income
{in C$ millions)

For the year ended October 31, Note 2025 2024
REVENUE
Insurance revenue - $ 2,537 5 2,336
Insurante Service expenses {2,364) (2,148)
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts héld (61) (58)
insurance service resuit g 112 130
Interast revenue on financial assets not measured at FVTPL 151 185
Net investment income excluding segregated funds account balarices 989 2,418
Net investment income - sagregated funds 490 729
Provision for credit losses - (1)
Investment raturn 1,630 3,331
Net finance income {expenses) from insiifance contracts excluding segregated funds (841) (2,378}
Net finance income {expenses) from segregated funds {490) (729)
Net finance income {expenses) from reinsurance contracts held 55 167
Movement in investment contract liabilities (3} {1)
Net investment result 10 351 390
Other operating expenses. 19 (60) {54)
Net Income before tax 403 466
Income tax expense 14 898 126
Net incoma attributable to the shareholder $ 305 5 340

Other comprehensive income {loss) (*0CI")
itemns that will be reclassified subsequently to net income:

Untealized gains (losses) on bonds and mortgages at FVOC) 71 311

Realized (gains) on bonds and mortgages at FVOC 28) {22)

Income tax relating to these [tems (12} {79)
Total items that will be reclassified subsequently to net income 31 210
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to income:

Remeasurement of defined benefit plans 2 3
Total other comprehensive income 33 213
Total comprehensive income attributable to the shareholder’ 5 338 $ 533

‘the accompanying riotes are an integral part of these financial statements
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
Statement of Changes in Equity

{in C$ millions)

For the year ended October 31,

2025

Other components of equity:

Fvoc!
Share Retained Investments Defined
capital earnings and loans benefit plans. Total
Balance, beginning of year S 2,351 608 108 232 § 3,090
Net income - 305 - - 305
Other comprehensive income - - 31 2 33
Issuance. of common shares {note 15) 60 - - - &0
Balance, end of year 5§ 2411 913 § 139 25 § 3,488
Restated for the year ended October 31, 2024
Other components of equity:
Fvod! Defined
Share Retained Investments benefits
capital earnings and loans plans Total
Balance, beginning of year § 1,751 268 § (102§ 20§ 1,937
Net income - 340 - - 340
Other comprehensive {loss} /Income - - 210 3 213
Issuance-of common shares (nota 15) 600 - - - 600
Balance, end of year $ 2,351 608 $ 108 23§ 3,090

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY
Statement of Cash Flows
{in C$ millions)

Forthe year ended October 31, 2025 2024
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 305 340
Adjustments for
Changes in insurance cantracts assets and liabilities 1,441 3,255
Chariges in reinsurance contracts assets and liabilities (26) (174}
Changes in Investment contract liabilities {4) 2
Changes in other assats (262) (166)
Obligation related to assets sold under asset repurchase agreement 1,004 548
Changes.iri other liabilities 45 85
Deferred income taxes 24 118
Net loss (gain} oninvestments and loans (41) {1,639}
Amortization of discounts on investments (87) {89}
Depreciation and amortization of premises, equipment and intangible assets 13 10
Cash flows provided by {used in) operating activities 2,412 2,290
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of investments and loans (11,601) {16,730)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments and loans 9,178 13,652
Purchases of premises and equipment and intangible assets - {8}
Cash flows provided by (used in} investing activities (2,423) (3,086}
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
issuance of common shares &0 600
Cash flows provided by (used in} financing activities 60 600
Net increase in cash.and cash equivalents 48 {196)
Cash and cash eguivalents.at beginning of year 180 376
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 229 180
Cash And Cash Equivalents Consist Of:
Cash in bank 168 160
Securities with ariginal maturity terms of ninety days or less 61 20
229 180
Net cash from operating activities include:
Income taxes paid 111 118
Interest received 858 9311
Dividend received 130 89

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these finahcial statements
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

f RBC Life Insurance Company {the “Company”} is a life and health insurance company federally registered under the Insurance Companies
; Act of Canada. The Company is wholly owned by RBC insurance Holdings lnc. (“the parent”) and its ultimate parent is Royal Bank of
Canada ["RBC” or “the ultimate parent”}. The Company's registered office is located at 6880 Financial Dr., Mississauga, Ontario L5N 7Y5,
Canada.

The Company providas a wide range of products to individual and group policyholders within Canada and offers individual life and health
insurance, group life and healthinsurance, group and individual annuities, and segregated fund life products,

On December 16, 2025, the Board of Directors approved the financial statements.
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Section 331 of the Insurdnce Coripanies Act of Canada, which states
that except as otherwise specified by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial institutions, Canada (“OSFI”}, the financial statements
are to be preparad in accordance with geperally accepted accounting principles which, for publicly accountable companies in Canada, are
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board {IFRS Accounting Standards).

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements {“F8”), including the accounting requirements of
the OSFI, conform in all respects to IFRS, and are summarized as follows:

a) Insurance Contracts, Investrnent Contracts-and Reinsurance Contracts Held

Summary of measurement approaches

The Company uses different measurement approaches, depending on the type of contracts, as follows:

Contracts Measurement model

Insurance contracts issued

Lifa insurance, disability insurance, group General measurement model {GMM)
annuity '
Group life and health insurance; personal | Premium allocation approach {PAA)
accident/royal recovery
Segregated funds, participating whole life | Variable Fee Approach (VFA)
(DPF}

Reinsurance contracts held
Life Yearly Renewahble Term, Life Coinsurance | Genera) measurement model [GMM)
Group Life Benefit Premium allocation approach {PAA)

Definition and classification
L. Insurance Contracts

Under [FRS 17, the Company identifies insurance contracts as arrangements where the. Company-accepts significant insurance risk from
another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder or beneficiary of the contract for specified uncertain future
events that adversely affect the policyholder and-whose amount and timing is unknown.

The Company determines whether a contract contains significant insurance risk by assessing if aninsured event could cause the Company
to pay to the palicyholder additional amounts that are significant in any single scenario with commercial substance even if the insured
event is extremely unlikely or the expected present value of the contingent cash flows is a small proportion of the expected preserit value
of the remaining cash flows from the insurance contract, In making this assessment, the Company constders-all its substantive rights and
obligations, whether they arise from cantract, law or regulation. When the Company issues insurance contracts to compensate another
entity for claims arising-from one or more insurance contracts issued by that cther entity,; the associated contracts are reinsurance
contracts issued which is-part of insurance contracts-issued,
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

II. Reinsurance Contracts

Reinsurance contracts held are insurance contracts under which we are the policyholder. [n the normal course of business, we use
reinsurance to limit-our expasure to large losses, and provide ddditional capacity for future growth, We evaluate the financial condition
of the reinsurers and monitor our concentrations of credit risks to minimize our exposure to fosses from reinsurer insolvancy.

.  investment contracts

In the absence of significant insurance risk, the Company classifies contracts as investment contracts or service contracts. The fairvalue
of investment contracts is me&asured using prospective discount cash flow method. For unit-linked contracts, the fair valug is equal to the
current unit fund value, plus additional non-unit liability amounts on a fair value basis if required. For non-unit-linked contracts, the fair
value is equat to the present value of contractual cash flow. The fairvalue of the investment contract liabilities approximates their carrying
value due tothe nature of the contracts.

IV. Separating Components from Insurance and Reinsurance Contracts

At inception, the Company separates the following components from an insurance or reinsurance contract held and accounts for them
as if they were stand-alone financial instruments:

* cash ﬂows-re|ating to embedded derivatives that-are required to be separated;
e cash flows relating to distinct investment components; and
+  promises to transfer distinct goods or distinct non-insurance services.

“The Company applies IFRS 17 toall remaining components of the contract. The Company does not have any contracts that require further

separation or combination of insurance contracts.
V. level of Aggregation

The Company determines its level of aggregation for the insurance contracts issued by dividing the business written into portfolios.
Portfolios comprise groups of contracts with similar risks which are managed together.

Allinsuranice cantracts-with similar risks and managed together within a product line represent a portfolio of contracts. A scoping review
was conducted at |FRS 17 transition to assess how contracts were managed across subsections of risk, pricing and management reporting
perspectives to determine an appropriate approach. .Anassessment of risk profiles {i.e. morbidity, mortality) was conducted at IFRS 17
transition to aggregate similar risks based on their underlying risk profiles {i.e, cross-referenced with appointed actuaries report). Each
partfolic is further disaggregated into.groups of contracts that are issued within a calendar year {annual cohorts} and are

o  contracts that are onerous at initial recognition;
«  contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently; or
*  agroup of remainin_g contracts.

These grotips represent the level of aggregation at which insurance contracts are initially recognized and measured. Such groups are not
subsequently reconsidered.
+  For PAA, the Company has no-contracts Inthe portfolio that are onerous at initial recognition.

VI. Injtial Recogitition
The Company recognizes a group of insurance contracts that it issues from the earliest of:
« The beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts:
e  The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group becomes due or when the first payment is received if there
is no due date; and

e For a group of anerous contracts; when the group becornes onerous if facts-and circumstances indicate there is-such a group.

Contracts are grouped into those that are onerous at initial recognition, if any, and all remaining contracts in'the portfolio, if any: The
Company-assesses each contract individually to determine which group the contract belongs.
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

A-group of reinsurance contracts held is recognized on the following date:

s Reinsurance contracts held initiated by the Company thatprovide proportionate coverage: the date:on which any underlying
insurance contract isinitially recognized;

»  Reinsurance contracts held that are acquired by the Company: the date of acquisition; and

e Otherreinsurance contracts held initiated by the Company: the beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance
contracts.

Vil. Contract boundary

The Company includes in the measurement of a group of insurance and reinsurance contracts held all the future cash flows within the
boundary of each contract in the group. Cash flows are within the boundary of a contract if they arise from substantive rights and
ohiigations that exist during the reporting period in which the Campany can compel the policyholder to pay the premiumis (or is compelled
to pay amotints to a reinsurer), or in which the Company has a substaritive obligation to provide the policyholder with services {or receive
services from a reinsurer). A substantive obligation to provide services ends when:

a) the Company has the practical ability to reprice the risks of the policyholder or.change the level of henefits so that the price fully
reflects those risks; or
b) both of the following criteria are satisfied:-
i, the Company has the practical ability to reprice the contract or a portfolic of contracts 5o that the price fully refiects the
reassessed risk of that portfolio; and
il. the pricing of premiums related to coverage to the date when risks are reassessed does not reflect the risks related to periods
beyond the reassessment date.

®  For groups of reinsurance contracts held, cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from. substantive righis and
abligations of the Company that exist during the reporting period in'which the Company-is compelled to pay amounts to the reinsurer
or in which the Company has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer.

e  The Company’s quota share life refnsurance agreements held have an unlimited duration but-are cancellable for new underlying
business with a one-year notice period by either party: Thus, the Company treats such reinsurance contracts as a series of annual
contracts that caver underlying business issued within a year. Estimates of future cash flows arising from all underlying contracts.
issued and expected to be issued within one-year’s boundary are included in each of the reinsurance contracts’ measurement.

The excess of loss reinsurance contracts held provides coverage for claims incurred during an accident year. Thus, all cash flows
arising from claims incurred and expected to be incurred in the accident year are included in the measurement of the reinsurance
contracts held.

Vill. Measurement of Insurance Contracts

There are three measurement models provided by IFRS 17 to measure insurance contracts:
« Tha General Measuremnent Model {GMM);
+ The Variable Fee Approach (VFA}; and
« The Premium Allocation Approach {PAA).

The General Measurement Model (GMM)

The Company applies this model to its medium and long-term insurance products, such as individual protection, permanent coverage, and
universal life. Under the GMM the liabliities for remaining coverage and incurred claims for groups of contracts are measyred as the sum
of the fulfilment cash flows (FCF) and the contractual service margin (CSM), which are recalculated at the end of each reporting period.
The fulfilment cash flows consist of the present vafue of future cash flows and a risk adjustment far non-financial risk. For insurance
contracts, the CSM represents the unearned profit for praviding insurance coverage. For reinsurance contracts held, the C5M represents
the net cost or net gain of purchasing reinsurance.

Losses-from the recognition of onerous groups. of insurance contracts, are recognized in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive
Income immediately.

Variable Fee Approach {VFA)

For insurance contracts with direct participating features, the contracts are measured using the variable fee approach (VFA).

Under the VFA the liabilities for remaining coverage and incurred claims for groups of contracts are measured as the sum of the fulfilment
cash flows (FCF).and the contractual service margin {CSM), which are recalculated at the end-of each reporting period. The fulfilment.cash
flows consist of the present value of future cash flows and. a risk adjustment for non-financial risk. For insurance contracts, the CSM
represents the ungarned profit for providing insurance coverage.
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Premium Alocation Approach (PAA)

The Company-applies this model to its. insurance products with a coverage period of one year or less, such as group life and health
insurance contracts, Under the PAA, the liability for remaining coverage for each group is measured as the premiums received less
insurance revenue recognized for services provided, while the. iiability for incurred claims.is measured as the fulfilment cash flows for
incurred claims plus adjustment on any financing components.

a) The General Measurement Model {GMM)

Initial Measurément
On initial recognition, the Company measures a group of insurance contracts as the total of the fulfilment cash flows, and CSM.

‘Fulfilment Cash Flows

The Company estimates future contractual cash flows within the contracts’ boundary by considering evidence from current and past
conditions, as well as possible future conditionsto reflect market and non-market variables impacting the valuation of cash flows. The
estimates of these cash flows are based on probability-weighted expected values that reflect the avérage of a full range of possible
outcomes and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk. The risk adjustment is the compensation the Company receives
in fulfilling an insurance contract that arises from uncertainties surrounding the amodnt and timing of cash flows for non-financial risks.
The non-financial risk assumptions are mortality, longevity, morbidity, [apse, and expense. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed
periodically for appropriateness in reflecting current; past, and future conditions.

When estimating fulfilment cash flows, the Company includes all cash flows that are within the contract boundary including:

+  Premiums and related cashflows;

Claims and benefits, including reported claims not yet paid, incurred claims not yét reported and expected future
claims;

Premium and other transaction-based taxes and cash flows from loans to policyholders;

Insurance acquisition cash flows which are allocated to groups of contracts on-a-systematic and rationat basis;
Other fixed and variable expenses directly attributable to the fulfilment of insurance coritracts;

Investment expenses incurred in investment activities related to underlying itemns such as.universal life funds and
segregated fund account balances

‘Risk adjustment for non-finaricial risk

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk represents the compensation that the Company requires for bearing uncertainty in the amount
and timing of insurance contract cash flows due to non-financial risk: Non-financial risks are insurance risks such as mortality, longavity,
and other risks such as expense and lapse.

Methods and assumptions used to determine the risk adjustment for non-financial risk are discussed in note 11a).

Contractual service margin

The C5Mis a component of the carrying amount of the asset or liability for a group of insurance contracts issued representing the
unearned profit that-the Company will recognize as it provides coverage in the future.

At iriitial recognition, the CSM is an amount that résults in no incofme or expenses (unless a group of contracts is onerous) arising from:
a) the initia] recognition of the FCF;
b) the derscognition at the date ofinitial recognition of any asset or liability recognized for insurance acquisition cash
flows; and
¢} cash flows arising from the contracts in the group at that date,
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Discount Rates

The Company measures time valua of money using discount rates that are consistent with-observable market prices and reflect the
liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts. They exclude the effect of factors that influence such observable market prices but
are deemed irrelevant to the future cash flows of the insurance contracts (e.g., credit risk}.

The Company applies the top-down approach for insurance contract liabilities with backing assets: Under this approach, the discount
rates are estimated by starting from the vield curve impliad-in a refarerice portfolio of assets that reasorably reflects the duration,
currency, and liquidity characteristics of the insurance cash flows, and then removing other rharket risk premium (e.g. credit risk). After
market risk premium is removed, the discount curve is essentially the-risk free rate plus the-illiquidity premium derived from the
reference portfolio. The allowance for credit risk in the discount rate varies depending on the credit rating, sector and term of the assets
reflected in the discount rate. The allowance is estimated based on historic credit experience and prevailing market conditions. For
examplé, if there is a significant widening of market credit spreads, an additional allowance for credit risk to reduce the discount rate
may be required to reflect prevailing market conditions. The Company. uses fixed-incomea assets aleng with a small portion of non-fixed
income asset to'support the insurance contract liabiilities as the reference portfolio to determine the discount rates, in the obsérvable
period, while the diseount rates in the unobservable period are based on an ultimate investment rate {(ultimate risk free plus ultimate
filiquidity premium). '

Insurance acquisition costs

The Company includes the following acquisition cash flows within the insurance contract boundary that arise from selling, underwriting
and starting a-group of insurance contracts and that are:

a) costs directly attributable to individual contracts and groups of contracts; and
b} costs directly attributable to the portiolio of insurance contracts to which the group belongs, which are allocated on a
systematic-and rational hasis to measure the group of insurance contracts.

Under IFRS 17, only insurance acguisition cash flows that arise before the recognition of the related insurance contracts are recognized
as separate assets and are tested for recoverability, These assets are.presented in the carrying amount of the related portfolio of
contracts and are derecogrized once-the related contracts Have been recognized.

Subsequent measurement

The carrying amount at.the end of each reparting period of a group of insurance contracts issued is the sum of:
a} the LRC, comprising: _
i. the FCFrelated to future service allocated to the group at that date; and
il. the.CSM ofthe group at that date; and
b) the LIC, comprising the FCF related to pastservice allocated to the graup at the reporting date.

The fulfilment cash flows for groups of insurance contracts are measured at the reporting date using current estimates of future cash
flows, current discount rates, and current estimates of risk adjustment for non-financial risk.

s  The CSM of any new contracts that are added to the group in the period;

» Interest accreted on the carrying amount of thé CSM during the period; measured at the discount rates on nominal
cash flows that do not vary based on the returnis on any underlying items determined on initial recognition;

e The changes In fulfilment cash flows that relate to future services (measured using initial recognition discount
rates}), except to the extent that:

a)  Anyincreasesin the fulfilmient cash flows that exceed the carrying amount of the CSM, in which case the
excess is recognized as a loss:in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income and.credtes a loss
component;ar

b) Anydecreasesin the fulfilment cash flowsare allocated o the lass component; reversing losses previously
recognized in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.

= The effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and
* The amount recognized as insurance revenue because of the services provided in the period.
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RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

2, SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

The changes in fulfilment cash.flows thatrelate to future services that adjust the CSM comprise of:

s  Experience adjustments arising from premium and premium refated cash flows received in the period that relate
to future services;

e Changesin both estimates of the present value of future cash flows and risk adjustment in the liability for remaining
coverage, measured at the discount rates determined on initial recognition, except for those that relate to the
effects of the time value of money and financial risk changes; and

»  Differences betweenany investment components not separated:-from the contract expected to.become payable in
the period (after allowing for financial experience variance} and the actual investment component that becomes
payable in the period, measured at the discount rates determined on initial recognition.

Changes in expected future discretionary cash flows are regarded as an assumption relating to future services and accordingly adjust
the CSM.

Changes.in fulfilment cash flows that relate to cufrent of past service are recognized in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive
Income as part of the insurance service result. Changes that relate to the effects of the time value of money and financial risk are
recognized in insurance finance income or expenses,

b) The Variable Fee Approach (VFA)

The Company applies this model to contracts with direct participating featurés such as participating insurance and segregated fund
business with insurancé guarantees, where an investment return is provided to the policyholder based on a defined. pool of items {e.g.,
a portfalio of assats).

Recognition

The Company will recognize an insurance contract under the VFAif it meets all of the following conditions at initiat recognition:

¢  The policyholder participates in a share of a clearly identified pool of underlying items;

e The Compariy expects to pay the palicyholder an-amount egual to a substantial share of the returns from the
underlying items; and

*  The substantial proportion of the cash flows the Company expects to pay to the policyholder is expected to vary
with cash flows from the underlying items. The Company performs the test for VFA qualification at initial
recognition.

Initial Measurement
Similar to the GMM, the VFA initially measures the insurance contract liabilities as the fulfilment cash flows, and CSM.
Subsequent Measurement

For a group of insurance contracts applying the VFA, the carrying amount of the CSM of the group at the end of the reporting period
equals the carrying amotint at the beginning of the reporting period adjusted for the following:

»  The effect of any new contracts added to the group;
e The Company's share of the change in the fair value of the underlying items, except to the extent that:,

a) The Company has a previously documented risk-management objective and strategy for using derivatives
to mitigate financial risk arising from the insurarice contracts, as it does for the insured assets contracts;

b} The Company’s share of a decrease in the fair value of the underlying items exceeds the carrying amount
of the contractual service margin, giving rise to.a loss; or

c) The -Company’s share of an increase in the fair value of the unhderlying items reverses the amount
previously recognized as a loss
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2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

s  The changes in fulfilment cash flows, relating to future service, except to the exterit that?

* The Company has a previously documented risk-management objective and strategy for using derivatives to mitigate
financial risk arising from the Insurance contracts, as it does for insured assets'contracts;

s Suchincreases in the fulfilment cash flows exceed the carrying amount of the contractual service margin, giving rise to
aloss; or

»  Such decreases in the fulfilment cash flows are allogated to the loss component of the liability for remaining coverage.

o The effect of any currency exchange differences on the CSM; and

* The amount recognized as insurance revenue hacalse of the services provided inthe period.

¢J Premium Allocation Approach (PAA)

The Company applies this model to its insurance products with a coverage period of one year of less.

Recognition

The Company applies the Premium Allocation Approach “"PAA” to simplify the measurément of contracts, except for grotips of contracts
that do not qualify for the PAA. When measuring liabilities for remaining covérage, each group is measured as the premiums recéived
lass insurance revenue recognized for services provided. When measuring liabilities for incurred ¢laims, the Company discounts the
future cash flows {unless they are expected to occur in.one year or less from the date on which the claims are incurred) and includes an

explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk.

The Company kas made an accounting policy cholce, for contracts applying the Premium Allocation Approach, to expense acquisition

rcash flows as they arise. These expenses will be reperted through Insurance Services Expenses and disclosed as part of the cash flows

applicable to claims and other insurance service expenses paid. The expenses and cash flows being presented as part of the Liability for
Incurred.Claims “11C",

Measurement

On initial recognition, the liability for remaining coverage is initially measured as the premiums received in the period minus any
insurance acquisition cash flows not expénsed, plus or minus any amount caused by the dérecognition of an acquisition cash flow asset,
or liability which represents any acquisition costs that were paid before the contracts were recognized.

Insurance acquisition costs are expenses as incurred. For contracts with expected future renewals, a portion of the acquisition costs are
capitalized as-anasset and deferred until the future contract renewals are recognized.

The discount rates used reflect the characteristics of the ¢ontract cash flows. For contracts where premiums are'recelved within one
year of the coverage period, the Company has-elected not to adjust the liability. for the time value of money.

Subsequent Measurement

At the end of each reporting period, the Company measures the liability for remaining coverage for contracts under the PAA as the.
carrying amount of the lizhility for remaining coverage at the beginning of the period, adjusted for the following:

o  Add the premiums received in the period;

»  less anyinsurance acguisition cash flows during the period not directiy expensed;

» Add the amortization of acquisition cash flows, plus any adjustments to a financing component;
» lessthe amount recognized as insurance revenue for the coverage provided in the period; and
o Less any investment components paid or transferred to the liability for incurred claims

If cireurnstances indicate that a contract under the PAA model has become onerous, a loss isimmediately recognized.in the Statements
of income and Comprehensive Income; and a separate component of the liability for remaining coverage is created to record this'loss
camponent, The loss is measured asthe difference between the fulfillment cash flows that relate to the remaining coverage of the
group and the current carrying amount of the liability for remaining coverage using the measurement described above,

The liability for incurred claims Is measured under the same apgroach as the GMM, which is the fuifillment cash flows related to
incurred claims. When claims are expected to be settled less than one year after being incurred, the Company has elected not'to
discount the Hability for incurred claims.-
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued]

IX. Measurement of Reinsurance Contracts Held
al. The General Measuremant Model {GMV}

The accounting policies used to medsure a group of insurance contracts under the GMM apply to'the measurement of a group of
reinsurance contracts held, with the following modifications:

The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of reinsurance contracts held is the sim of:

a} the remaining coverage, comprising:
i. the FCF related to future service allocated tothe group at that date; and
il. the CSM of the group at that-date; and
b the incured dlaims, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date:

The Company measures the estimates of the present value of future cash flows using assumptions that are consistent with-those.used
to measure the estimates of the presént value of future cash flows for the underlying insurance contracts, with an adjustment for any
risk of non-performance by the reinsurer. The effect of the non-performance risk of the reinsurer is assessed at each reporting date and
the effect of changes in the non-perfarmance risk is recognized in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the amount.of the risk transferred by the'Company to the reinsurer.

On initial recognition, the CSM of a group of reinsurance contracts held represents a net cost or net gain on purchasing reinsurance. It is
measured as the equal and opposite amount of the total of the fulfilment cash flows, any derecognized assets for cash flows occurring
before the recognition of the group, any cash flows arising at that date and any income recognized in the Statement of Income and
Comprehensive income because of onerous underlying contracts recognized at that date. However, if any net cost'on purchasing
reinsurance coverage relates to insured events that occurred before the purchase of the group, then the Company recognizes the cost
immediately in the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Incorne as ah expense,

The Company adjusts the carrying amount of the CSM of a group of reinsurance contracts held at the end of a reporting period to-
reflect changes in the fulfilment cash flows applying the same approach as for insurance contracts issued, except when the underlying
contract is onerous and the change in the fulfilment cash flows for underlying insurance contracts is recognized in profit or loss by
adjusting the loss component. The respective changes in reinsurance contracts held is also recognized in profit and loss {adjusting the
loss recovery component). Funds withheld under reinsurance contracts held to manage credit risk-are included in the carrying'amount
of the reinsurance coritracts held asse

b). The Premium Atiocation Approach (PAA}

The Company uses the PAA for measuring contracts with a coverage period of one year or less. This approach is used for contracts with
a coverage period of one year or less.

Ceding premiums on reinsurance-contracts held are includéd in the reinsurance asset and recognized as an-expense over the coverage
period as reinsurance service is received. These premiums are riot netted against insurance revenue.

The carrying amount of a group of réinsurance contracts held at the end of each reporting period is the sum of:
a) therermaining coverage; and.
b} the incurred claims, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.

For reinsurance contracts held, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the remaining covarage is:
a) increased for ceding premiums paid in the period; and

b} decreased for the amounts of ceding premiums recognized as reinsurance expenses for the services received in the period.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Onerous Underlying Insurance Contracts
Initial Recognition

When the Company incurs a loss.on the initial recognition of a graup of onerous underlying contracts recognized, a Joss-recovery
component (income) will be recognized by the Company with the associated group of reinsurance contracts held.

The loss-recovery component on a group of reinsurance contracts held will be calculated by multiplying:

s The loss recognized on the group of underlying insurance contracts; and
o  The percentage of claims on underlying insurance contracts the entity expects to recover from the reinsurance
contracts held,

The percentage of ciaims on underlying insurance contracts the Company expects to recover from the reinsurance contracts held will be
detéermined by dividing the total expected claims on the underlying insurance cantracts by the-total expected reinsurance claim
recoveries.,

The Company will anly measure o Loss Recovery if the Reinsurance Contract held Is entered Into. before or at the same time as the
onerous underlying insurence cantracts are recognized.

Subsequent Measurement

The Company will adjust subsequently the Lass Recovery, as a result of changes in the underlying direct group Loss Component. LRC {Loss
Recovery Component) is adjusted by the following three components:

*  LRCadjustment related to, if any, new underlying policies’,
e LRCadjustment related to the Fulfillment Cash Flow changes of the existing underlying policies; and
*  [RC adjustment related to the systematic allocation of the Loss Recovery Component.

A loss recovery component is created or adjusted for the group of reinsurance contracts held o depict the adjustment to the CSM,
which determines the amounts that are subsequently presented in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income-as reversals of
recoveries of losses from the reinsurance contracts held and are exéluded from the allocation of reinsurance premiums paid in the net
expense from reinsurance contracts hefd.

X. Measurement of Investment Contracts

Investment contracts are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the contract. At recopnition,
the Company measures an investmerit cantract at its fair value. Transacticn costs that are incremental and directly attfibutable to the
acquisition or issue of the investment contract are expensed as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investment contract

liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss {FVTPL). Movement.in investment contract llabilities is presented within net
investmentand-insurance finance result in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.

¥l Coverage Units

The CSM of a group of cantracts is recognized in insurance service result within the Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
toreflect insurance contract services provided in each year based on the number of covérage units provided. Coverage units are
determined by the expected coverage period and the guantity of benefits provided under each contract, including insurance benefits,
investment-return service, and investment-related service. Determination of the quantity of benefits requires judgement. The quantity
of benefits of a contract is the amount insured over the duration of the contract, which is evaluated by considering the specific
characteristics of each contract. Examples of quantity of benefits include face amount and expected future benefit payments. Also
included in quantity of benefits is expected investment return, if applicable. Coverage units for groups of insurance contracts measured
under the GMM and VFA are discounted using the:groups locked-in rate to determine the CSM amortization amgunts.

The total coverage units of each group of insurance contracts are reassessed at the end of each quarter to adjust for the reduction of
remaining coverage for claims paid, expectations of lapses and cancellation of contracts in the period.

For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM amortization reflects the expected pattern of the underlying direct contracts because the level
of service provided corrésponds to the underlying contracts in-force,
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
XIl. Recognition.and derecognition
Groups of insurance contracts issued are initially recognized from the earliest of the following:

s the beginning of the coverage perjod;

¢ the date when the first payment from the policyholder is due-or actually received, if there is no due date; and

¢  when the Company determines that a group of contracts becomes onerous.
Insuranice contracts acquired in a business combination or a portfolio transfer are accounted for as if they were entered into at the date
of acquisition or transfer.

Investment contracts with DPF are initlally recognised at the date the Group becomes a parly to the contract,

A group of réinsurance contracts held that covers the losses of separate insurance contracts on a proportionate basis:{proportionate.
or quota share reinsurance)} is recognized at the later of:

+ the beginning of the coverage period of the group; or

» the initial recognition of any underlying insurance contract.
The Company does not recognize a group of quota share reinsurance contracts held until it has recognized at least one of the underlying
tnsurance contracts,

‘A group of reinsurance contracts held that covers aggregate losses from underlying contracts in excess of a specified amount {non-
proportionate reinsurance contracts, such as excess of loss reinsurance) is recognized at the beginning of the coverage period of that
group.

Only contracts that meet the recognition criteria by the end of the réporting period are included in the groups. When contracts meet
the racognition criteria in the groups after the reporting date, they are added to the groups in the reporting period in which they meet

the recognition criteria, subject to the annual coharts’ restriction, Composition of the-groups is not reassessed in subiséquent periods.
Xill. Contract modification and derecognition

Contract Modification

When the tarms of insurance contracts are medified, the Company assesses whether the modification is substantial enough to lead to
the derecognition of the original contract and recognition of a new modified contract as if it was entered for the first time. If the contract
modification does not lead to & derecognition of the contract, then the effect of the modification is treated as a change in the estimates
of fulfilment cash flows which is recorded as an éxperience adjustment to the existing contract.

Derecognition of Contracts

The Company derecognizés a contract when it Is extinguished, which is when the specified obligations in the contract expire or are
discharged or cancelled.

When an insurance contract not accounted for under the PAA is derecognized from within a group of insurance contracts:

¢ The fulfilment cash flows allocated to the group are adjusted to eliminate those that rélate to the rights.and
obligations derecognized;
e  The CSM of the group is adjusted for the change in the fulfiiment cash flows, except where such changes are
allocated to a loss component; and
®  The number of coverage units for the expected remaining coverage Is adjusted to reflect the coverage units
‘derecognized from the group.
[ ]
IFa contract is derecognized because it is transferred to a third party, then the CSM is also adjusted for the premium chargad by the third
party, unless the group is onerous.

When an insurance coritract accounted for under the PAA is derecognized, adjustments to the fulfilment cash flows to remove related
rights and obligations and account for the effect of the derecognition result in the following amounts being charged immediately.to the
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income:

o Ifthe contract is extinguished, any net difference between the derecognized part of the liability for remaining
coverage of the original contract and @ny other cash flows arising from extingtiishment; and

s [f the contract is transferred to the third party, any difference between the derecognized part of the liability for
remaining coverage of the eriginal contract and the premium charged by the third party.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
XV, Insurance revenue

Under IFRS 17, insurance revenue in-each reporting périod represents the changés in the liabifities for remaining coverage that relate to
services for-which the Company expects to receive consideration and an allocation of premiums that relate to recovering insurance
acquisition cash flows. In-addition, investment components are no fonger included in insurance revenue and insurance. service expenses,

As the Company provides services under the group of insurance contracts, it reduces-the LRC and recognizes insurance revenue. The
amount of insurance revenue recognized in the reporting period.depicts the transfer of promised services at an amount that reflects the
portion of consideration the Company expects to be entjtled to.in exchange for those services.

For contracts not measured underthe PAA, insurance revenue. comprises the following:

s Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC:

d) insurance claims and expenses incurred in the period measured at the amounts expected at the beginning of the period,
excluding:

i. amounts related to.the loss component;
it. repayméents of investment camponents; and
ifi. amounts of transaction-based taxes collected in a fiduciary capacity.

b} changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, disdggregated between insurance service result and insurarice finance
income or expense, excluding:

i. changes included ininsurance finance income {expenses);
it. changes that relate to future coverage {which adjust the C3Mj); and
iii. amounts allecated to the loss component.

t} amiounts of the CSM recognized in profit or loss for the services provided in the period; and
d} experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to past and current service.

Insurance acquisition cash fows recovery is determined by aflocating the portion of premiums related to the recovery of those cash flows
over the coverage period through C5M release. The Comparniy assesses recoverability at initial recogriition and each reporting date,-and
any unrecoverable amounts are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

For groups of insurance contracts measured under the PAA, the Company recognizes. insurance revenue based on the passage of time
averthe coverage period of a group-of contracts.

XV. Insurance service expenses
Insurance service expenses include the following:

a) incurred claims and benefits excluding investment components;

by otherincurred directly attributable insurance service expensas;.

¢} amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows;

d) changes that relate to past'service (i.e. changes in the FCF relating to the LIC); and

e} changes that relate to future service (i.e. losses/reversals on onerous groups of contracts from changes in the loss compenents).

For contracts not measured under the PAA, amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows is reflected in insurance service expensesin
the same amount as insurance acquisition cash fiows recovery reflected within insurance revenue as described above.

For contracts measured under the PAA, the Company experises insurance acquisition cash flows:as incurred.

Other expenses not meeting the above categories are includéd in other operating expenses in the Statement of Income and
Comprehensive Income.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continuad)
XVE.  Netincome [expenses_) from reinsurance contracts held

The Company presents financial performance of groups of reinsurance contracts held on a net basis in net income (expenses} from
reinsurance contracts held, comprising the following amounts:

a) reinsurance expenses;

b) incurred claims recovery;

c) otherincurred directly attributable insurance service expenses;

d) effect of changes in risk of reinsurer non-performance;

e} changes in‘estimates that relate to losses and reversals of losses; and reversals of losses on onerous underling contracts; and
f)  changes relating to pastservice (i.e. adjustments to incurred claims).

Reinsurance expenses are recagnized similarly to insurance revenue. The:amount of refnsurance expenses recognized in the reporting
peried depicts the transfer of received services at an amount that reflects the portion of ceding premiums the Campany expects to pay
in exchange for those services.

For contracts.not measured under the PAA, reinsurance expenses comprise the following amounts refating to changes in the remaining
coverage:

@)  Insurance claims and other expenses recovery in the period measured at the amounts expected to be incurred at the heginning
of the period, excluding repayments of investment components;
b} changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding:

- changes included in finance income {expenses) from reinsurance contracts held; anid
- changes-that relate tofuture coverage {which adjust the CSM);.

c¢) amounts of the CSM recognized in profit or loss for the services received in the peried; and
d) ceded premium experience adjustments relating to past and currerit service.

For groups of reinsurance cantracts held measured under the PAA, the Company recognizes reinsurance expenses based on the passage
of time over the coverage period of a group of contracts,

XVil. Insurance finance income or expenses
Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of insurance cantracts arising from:

a) the-effect of the time value of money and changesin the time value of money; and
b} the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

For contracts measured under the GMM, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses are:

a} interest accreted on the FCF and the C5M;
b) theeffect of chang_es in interestrates and other financial assumptions; and
c) foreign exchange differences.arising from contracts denominated in a foreign currency.

For contracts measured under the VFA, the main amounts included in insurance finance income or expenses are the changes in the
carrying value arising from changes in the time value of money and financial risk. We elected not to apply the risk mitigation option

For cantracts measured under the PAA, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses are:

a} interest accreted on the LIC; and
b} the effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions.

‘The Company disaggregates changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk between insurance service result and insurance finance

income or expenses,
Insurance finance income and expenses are presented separately from insurance revente-and insurance service expenses.
For the contracts measured using the VFA, we have elected not to apply the OCl option.

The groups of insurance contracts, includingthe CSM, that generate cash flows in a foreign currency:are treated as monetary items.
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b}

Invastments and loans
Classification of financial assets

Financial assets are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are classified and subsequently measured at fair value through
profit or foss {FVTPL), fair value through other Comprehensive income (FVOCI) or-amortized cost based on our business model for
managing the financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met and the asset is not designated as
FVTPL: (a) the asset is held within 3 business madal that is Held-to-Collect {HTC) as described below, and {b) the contractual terms
of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding (SPPI}.

Debt instruments are measured at FYOC! if both of the following conditions are met and the asset is not designated as FVTPL: () the
asset is held within a business modef that is Held-to-Collect-and-Sell {HTC&S) as described below, and (b} the contractual terms of
the Instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are SPPI,

All other debt instruments are measured at FVTPL.

Equity instruments are' measured at FVTPL, unless the asset is not held for trading purposes and the Company makes an irrevocable
election to designate the asset as FVOCL This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Business model assessment

The Company determines business models at the level that best reflects how it manages portfolios of financial assets to achieve its

business objectives. Judgment is used in determining our business models, which is supported by relevant-and objective evidence.

Qur business models fall into three categories, which are indicative of the key strategies used to generate returns:
®  HTC: The objective of this business model is to hold loans and-securities to collect contractual principal and interest cash
flows, Sales are incidental to this objective and are expected to be insignificant or infrequent.

@  HTC&S: Both collecting contractual cash flows and sales are integral to achieving the objective of the business model.

e Other fair value business models: These business models are neither HTC nor HTC&S, and primarily represent business
models where assets are held-for-trading or managed on a fair value basis,

SPPI assessment

instruments held within a HTC or HTC&S business model are assessed to evaluate if their contractual cash flows are comprised of
solely payments of principal and interest. SPPI payments are those which would iypically be expected from basic lending
arrangements. Principal amounts include par repayments from lending and financing-arrangements, and interest primarily relates to
basic lending returns, including compensation for credit risk and the time value of money assaciated with the principal amount
outstanding over-a period of time, Interest can alse include other basic.lending risks and costs (for example, liquidity risk, servicing
or administrative costs) associated with holding the financial asset for a period of time, and a profit margin.

All other financial assets are measured-at amortized cost.
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b)

Investments and foans {continued}

il Investments and loans classifications

Fair Value Through Profit or Loss {(FVTPL) assets

Financial assets purchased forsale in the near term, and derivatives, are classified as FVTPL by nature.

Afinancial instrument canbe designated as FVTPL under the fair valug aption on its initial recognition even if the financial instrument
was notacquired orincurred principafly for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it inthe near term. Aninstrument thatis designated
as FVTPL must have a reliably measurable fair value and satisfy one of the following criteria: {i) it eliminates or significantly reduces
& measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognizing gains and
losses on them on a different basis; {§i) it.belongs o a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both that are managed,

evaluated, and reported to senior management on a fair value basis in accordance with the risk management strategy, and the
Company can demonstrate that significant financial risks are eliminated or significantly reduced or {iii) there is an embedded

derivative in the financial or non-financial host contract and the derivative is not closely related to the host contract.

Financial instrumerits designated as FVTPL are recorded at fair value and any unrealized gain or loss arising due to changes in fair
value is included in Net investment income. These instruments cannot be reclassified out of the FVTPL category while they are held
or issued.

The Company’s business model for assets supporting insurance lfabilities is managed at fair value basis.

The company-account for all of our investmenits and loans using settlement date-accounting and changes in fair value between the
trade date and settlement date are reflected in income for investment and loans measured at FYTPL

Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCH financial assets

The Company has classified all bonds and designated equities, either by nature nor designated as FVTPL, as FVOQ! financial assets,
FVOCI financial assets are carried at fairvalue on the Balance Sheet starting on the settlement date.

Deht securities carried at FYOCI are measured at fair valie with unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair value included
in Other Comprehensive Income {“OCI”). Impairment gains and losses which result from changes to the Allowance for credit losses
{“ACL") are recognized in net-income. When a debt instrument measured-at FV¥OC! is sold, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
fram OCi to Net Investment Income.

Equity securities carried at FVOC| are measured at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are
recarded in QCI and not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss when realized. Dividends fram FVOCI equity securities are
recognized as dividend in Net Investment Income.

The company account for changes in the fair value of investment and loans measured at FVOCI between the trade and settlement
dates are recorded in OCI..

Allowance for credit Josses [ACL)

An ACL is-_established for all finandial assets, except for financial assets classified or designated as FVTPL and equity securities
designated as FYOC], which are not subject to impairment assessment. Assets subject {o impairment assessment include debt
securities, accounts and accrued interest receivable.

The ACLis a discounted probability-weighted estimate of the cash shorifalls expected to result from defauits over the relevant time
horizari. Increases or decreases in the required ACL attributable to purchases and new ariginations, derecognitions or maturities,
and remeasurements due to changes in loss expectations of stage migrations are recorded in Provision far credit losses. Write-offs
and recoverles of amounts previously writtén off are recorded against ACL.

THe ACL represents an unbiased estimate of expected credit losses on the financial assets as at the balance sheet date. Judgment is
required in making assumptions and estimations when calculating the ACL, including movements between the three stages and the
application of farward-logking information. The underlying assumptions and estimates may result in changes to the provisions from
period to peried that significantly affect the results.
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b)

Investments and loans (continued).

i) Investments and loans categories

:‘Bonds, long term debt, short-term investments, structured products and cash equivalents.

Short term investments are. securities that have original maturity terms of ninety one days to one year. Securities with original
maturity terms of ninety days or less are treated as cash equivalents.

Investments in bonds and long term debt are valued at fair value, including structured products which are made up of National
Housing Authority, Commercial Mortgage Backed and Asset Backed securities. The fair value of publicly traded bands is determined
using quoted market bid prices. For nan-publicly traded bonds; fair value is determined using 2 discounted cash flow approach that
includes provisions for credit risk and the expected maturities of the securities. The valuation‘techniques used are primarily based
an ghservable market prices or rates,

Equities and investment funds

Investments in common shares, preferred shares and investment funds are at FVTPL and at FVOCL. The fair value of publicly traded
stocks is determined using quoted market close prices and-is reported at fair value on the Balance Sheet. investment funds include
‘segregated funds and mutual funds. Fair value of invesiments in inveéstment funds is determined using quoted market prices.

Mertgages and term loans

Mortgages are carried at FVTPL and at FVOCI, net of an allowance. When & mortgage is identified as impaired, an allowance for credit
foss is-established to reduce the carrying amount to estimated recoverable amount. Restructured mortgage loans are adjusted for
unamortized discounts representing interest concessions. Realized gains and losses on the sale of mortgages:are recognized as part
of Netinvestment income.

Term loans, including Private placements, backirig liabilities are carried at FVTPL and-at FVOCL.
Otherinvested assets

Other invested assets include investment credit facility loans, made to certain policyholders on the security of their policies; and
carried at their uripaid piincipal balance and are fully secured by the cash surrender policy values.

Derivative financial instruments

The Company's derivative financial instruments, which include forwards, swaps and futuras contracts, are used to mianage risks or
to replicate the exposures associated with interest rate, currency and equity market fluctuations. Equity futures contracts may be
denominated in Canadian or foreign currencies. These contracts pay or receive-cash flows based on the increase or decrease in the
underlying index. Their fair values are based on quoted market prices.

All derivative financial instruments are recorded at their fair values onthe Balance Sheet with any realized or unrealized gains and
losses recognized in Net invastment income. Derivatives with-a positive fair value are recorded as derivative:assets in Investments
and leans, while derivatives with a negative fair value are recorded as derivative liabilities in Other liabilities.

Derivatives not designated as accounting hedges:

Derivative instrumants are recorded on the Balance 'Sh_eet at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in income from derivative
Instruments in Netinvestment income. Ihcome earried on these derivatives is also recordedin Net investment income. Interestrate
swaps pay or receive based on the change in the fair value of the underlying cash flows.
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b)

Investments and loans (continued).

iii) Determination of fair value

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the financial instrument could be exchanged in an arm’s-length
transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties under no compulsion-to act. In determining fair value; a hierarchy is-used
which prioritizes the inpuits to valuationtechniques. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities {Level 1} and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Levei 3). The-availability of
inputs relevant to the asset or liability and the relative refiability of the inputs might-affect the selection of appropriate valuation
techniques.

The fair value hierarchy levels are based on the reliability of the price or rate input. Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted pricesin
active markets for jdentical assets or lizbilities that the Company has theability to access at the measurement date. Level 2 inputs
‘areinputs.other than quaoted prices in Level 1'that are chservable for the asset-or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs
include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active mmarkets or guoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in
markets that are not-active, and inputs that are derived principally from observable market data. Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs far the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value to the extent that observable inputs are not
available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement
date.

The Company determines fair value by incorporating all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price and'Is
consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments: Valuation models are approved for use within
the Company’s model risk managerment framework. The framework addresses; among other things, model development standards,
validation processes and procedures, and approval authorities, The Company has documented internal policies methodologies and
procedures for determining fair value.

Valuation techniques also include using a documented Hird-party pricing source waterfall. The third party pricing source waterfall
gives priority to those services and prices having the highest and most consistentaccuracy. The level of accuracy Is developed over
-time by comparing third-party price values to traders’ or system values, to other pricing service values and, when available; to actual
trade data.

For instrurments niot traded 'in an-active market, fair value is determined using a valuation technigue that maximizes the use of
observable market inputs to the extent available. For mora complex or illiquid instruments, significant judgment is required in the.
determiination of the model used, the selection of model inputs, and in some cases the application of valuation adjustments to the
model value or quoted price for {nactively traded financial fnstruments, as the selection of model inputs may be subjective and the
inputs may be unobservable. Unobsérvable inputs are inherently uncertain as there is fittle or no market data avaifable from which
to determine the level at which an arm’s length transaction would occur under normal business circumstances. The realized price
for a transaction may he different from its recorded value that is previously estimated- using management judgment and will
therefore impact unrealized gains and losses recognized in Nef investment income.

A breakdown of fair values of financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy (Level 1, 2 and 3_) is provided in note 6. The
following describes how fair values are determined, what inputs are used and whiere they are classified in the fair value hierarchyin
note 6, for the Company’s significant assets and liabilities:

Government bonds {Canadian, U.S. and other povernments)

Government bords include Canadian government debt, U.S. state, municipal and -agencies debt, and Other government debt. The
fair value of government jssued or guaraiteed debt securities in active markets is determined by reference to recent transaction
prices, broker quotes, or third-party vendor prices and is classified as Level 1. The fair value of securities that are not traded in active
markets are determined by broker quotes or are modelled using implied yields and cfedit spreads derived from prices of actively
traded and-similar govermment securities, These securitiesare classified-as Level 2 or 3 in the hierarchy, depending on'the significance
of the unobservahle spread.

Corparate bonds

The fair value of corporate bdnds, including asset backed securities, which are in Corporate debt is determined using the most
recently executed transaction prices, broker quotes, pricing services or discounted cash flow valuation madels using inputs such as
benchmark yields. If a valuation model is used, these bonds aré classified as Level 2 of 3 based on how significant the uncbservable
spread is.
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2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
b}

a9

iv,

St

Investments and loans (continued).

Eguities

Equities in the fair value hierarchy consist of listed and unlisted common shares and investment funds, and preferred shares. Thefair
value of comron shares and preférred shares are based on quoted prices in active markets, where available and are classified as
Lavel 1. Fair value of the investment funds is based on listed Net Asset Values {NAV). If the Comipany cannot redeem a fund at its
NAV,the fund is classified as Level 3 as the NAV is considered unobservable:

Derivatives

The fair value of exchange-traded derivatives such as equity futures are based on quoted market prices and are classified as Level 1.
OTC derivatives primarily consist of interest rate swaps. The fair value of OTC derivatives is determined using valuation models when
quoted market prices or third-party consensus pricing information are not available, and are Level 2 or 3 instruments. The valuation
models intorparate current market measures for interest rates and other market-based pricing factors.

Where observable prices or inputs-are not available, management judgment is required to determine fair values by assessing other
relevant sources of information such as historical data, proxy information from similar transactions, and through extrapolation and
interpolation techniques. Appropriate parameter uncertainty and market risk valuation adjustments for such inputs and other modael
risk valuation adjustments are assessed in all such instances.

Securities sold under repurchase agreements
In the fair value hierarchy table, these instruments are included in Investments and loans; and obligations related to assets sold
under repurchase agreements, They are classified as Level 2 instruments in-the hierarchy as the inputs are observable.

Mortgages

Mortgages are carried-at fair value and the valuation technique is discounted eash flow with government of Canada vield curve
plus spread. They are classified as either Level 2 or fevel 3 for fair value purposes depending on the observability-of significant
inputs. The main unobiservable input used in mortgage valuations is the credit spread. The significance of the credit spread is
determined based on theimpact of changing credit rating up or down 1 grade.and whether this would résult in a valuation
movement of greater than 10%. Realized gains and losses are recarded in invastment income immediately. tmpairment losses are
recarded on mortgages when there is no longer reasonable assurance as to the timely collection of the full amount of principal and
interest and are measured based on the discounted value of expected future cash flows at the original effective interest rates
inherent in the mortgage. Expected futtre cash flows of impaired mortgages are typically determined with.reference to the fair
value of collateral sectirity underlying the mortgage, net of expected costs of realization and any applicable insurance recoveries.
Significant judgment is applied in the determination.of impairment including'the timing and amount of future collections.

Investments and Ipans - Revenue and expenses recognition

Interest from assets measured at FVTPL is recognized in Net investment income, all other interest is recognized in Interest revenue
on financial assets not measured at FVTPL. All interest-bearing financial instruments are accounted for using the effective interest
method, The effective inferest method is used to calculate premiums-or discounts for loans and fixed income securities. Dividend
incame is recognized when the right to receive payment i$ established. This is the ex-dividend date for listed equity securities, and
usually the date when shareholders have approved the dividend for uniisted equity securities. The effective interest method is
used to calculate premiums or discounts for loans and fixed income securities.

Trahsaction costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments classified or designated as FVTPLand FVOCI. Far other financial
instruments, transaction costs are capitalized on initial recognition. For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortized
cast, capitatized transaction costs are amortized through Net income over the estimated life of the instrument using effective interest
method.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets, comprising internally developed software, are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses.
The Company provides for amortization on a straight line basis over three to five years, the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Intangible assets are assessed for indicators of impairment quarterly. If there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, an
impairment test is performed by comparing the asset’s carrying amount to its recoverable.amount. Animpairment charge is recorded
o the extent the recoverable amount of an asset, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is less than its
carrying amount. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the ‘asset. After the
recognition of impairment of an asset, the amortization charge is adjusted in future years to reflect the asset’s revised carrying
amount. If an impairment is [ater reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is ravised to the lower of the-asset’s recoverable amount
and the carrying amount that would have been detérmined {net of amortization) had there been no prior impairment loss. The
amortization charge in future years is adjusted to reflect the revised carrying amount.

Page 26 of 74



RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
d} Segregated funds

The Company manages segregated funds on behalf of policyholders, which are presented as segregated funds net assets with
offsetting insurance and investment contract liabilities for account of segregated fund helders in the amount of their account
balances. The investment returns on these funds are passed directly to the policyholders, although the Company has provided certain
guarantees. Segregated funds net assets are presented as a separate line on the Balance Sheet. Segregated funds net assets are
recorded at fair value, Investment income earned by the segregated funds net assets are preserited in the Net Inveéstment Income -
segregated funds on the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.

e) Foreign currency

The Canadian dollar is the functional and presentation currency of the Company. Transactions.in foreign currencies are translated
into Canadian dollars at rates of exchange at the time of such transactions. Monetary assets and ligbilities are translated at current
rates of exchange, with all translation differences recognized in Net investment income in the current period. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities are translated at the date the fair value is determined, with the translation differences recognized in OC| until
disposition or impairment of the underlying asset or liability,

f)  Useof estimates and signiﬁcantjud_gments

In preparation of the financial statements, the Company is required to make subjective estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets, liabilities, net income and rélated disclosures. Estimates made by management are based on historical
experience and other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable. Key sources of estimation uncertainty include: the
determination of fair value of financial instruments when quoted market prices are not available, the valuation of insurance contract
kiabilities, pensions and other post employment benefits, and amounts recoverable from refnsurers. Accordingly, actual results may
differ from these and other estimates thereby impacting the future financial statements. Refer to the relevant accounting policies
in this note for details on the use of estimates and assurmptions.

In preparation of the financial statements, the Company is required to make significant judgments that affect the carrying value of
certain assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of income and expenses recorded during the year. Significant judgmints
have been made in the following areas: determination of classification of financial instruments (note 2, S and 6), measurement of
Insurance and reinsurance contracts {note 2 and 11), the recognition of deferred income tax assets {note 2 @nd 14}, and the’
valuation of level 3 investments (note 6).

The following are estimates or.assumptions, inputs, estimation technigues and judgements:

e Discount rates used to present value future cash flows reflect the time value of money and the characteristics of the
insurance-and reinsurance contracts. Cash flows that vary based on the returns on underlying items are discounted at rates
reflecting that variability. For cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on underlying items, we predominantly apply
the top-down approach in determining the discount rates. Under this approach, the discount rates for the observable
periods are determined using yield curves implied from a reference portfolio of assetsthat reflects. the duration and liquidity
characteristics of the insurance contracts, adjusted to eliminate factors {credit and market risk of the financial assets) that
are not relevant to the insurance contracts. For the unobservable period, the discount rates are jnterpolated hetween the
last observable point at year 30 from the reference portfolio, and the ultimate discount rate from. year 70 which is
composed of an ultimate risk-free rate-of 2.9% and illiquidity premium 1.2% The ultimate rates are based on historical
experience of long-term risk-free rates and spreads on iliiquid assets, inflation outleok, and Canadian Institute of Actudries
guidance material,

The following table provides the current discount ylelds that are primarily used to present value'cash flows,

Current discount yields 1year 5 year 10vyear 20 year 30 year Ultimate
October 31, 2025 3.15% 4,335 5:99% 7.27% 5.08% 4.10%
October 31, 2024 4.10% 4.18% 3.62% 5.96% 4.21% 4,10%

*  Fulfilment cash flows; Fulfilment cash flows have three major components: Estimate of future cash flows,.an-adjustment to
reflect the time value of money and the financial risk related the future cash flows if not include in the estimate of future
tash flows, and a risk adjustment for rion-financial risk.

in the computation of insurance contract liabilities, "expected” assumptions covering the lifetime of the policies have been
made for many variables, including mortality, morbidity, rates of policy lapsation, attributable expenses, inflatian,
policyholder dividends and taxes. Assumptions are reviewed annually based on studies of the major experience factors.
The chanpe in insurance contract liabitities and insurance contract assets resulting from assumption changes as a result of
these 'r'eviews is recagnized through CSM for non-onerous groups and loss components through onerous groups. The
methods used to determine key.assumptions are outlined in note 11a(i).
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

g

h}

Income-taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method of tax allocation. Under this method; the income tax expense consists of both an
expense for current income taxes and an éxpense for deférred income taxes. The impact of changes in current taxes related to
unrealized gains or losses on FVOCI financial assets however is reflected through OCI.

Current income tax expense represents the expected payable or receivable resuiting from the eurrent year's operations, and any
adjustments to taxes payable in respect of previous years. Current income tax payable on profits is recognized as an expense based
on the appli¢able tax laws in each jurisdiction in the year in which profits arise, calcufated using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted by the Balance Sheet dates. Deferred income tax expense represents the movement during the year in the cumulative
temporary diffarences between the carrying value of the Company's assets and Habilities on the Balance Sheet and their values for
tax purposes. Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that they are probable of being realized. Deferred incorhe
tax liabilities and assets are calculated based on income tax rates and laws that, -at the Balance Sheet dates, are expected to apply
when the liability or asset is realized, which are those enacted or cansideréd substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet dates.

Judgment is required in the interpretation of the relevant tax laws, and the determination of the tax proviston which includes best
estimate of tax positions that are under audit or appeal by relevant taxation:authorities. The determination of deferred tax asset or
liability also requires significant management judgment as the recognition is dependent on.projection of future taxable profits and
tax rates that are expected to be in effect in the period the asset is realized or the liability is settled. Any changes in projection will
result in chianges in déferred tax assets or liabilities on the Balance Sheet, and deferred tax expense on the Statement of income and
Comprehensive Income.

Pension and other post-employment benefits

The Company offers a number of benefit plans which provide pension and cther post-employment henefits (OPEB} to eligible
employees. These plans include a registered defined benefit pension plan, & non-registered supplemental pension plan, a defined
contribution.plan and health, dental, disability and life insurance plans.

Investments held by the pension funds primarily comprise equity and fixed income securities and are valued at fair value. Defined
benefit pension costs.and the present value of accrued pension and other post—employment benefit obligations are calculated by
the plans’ actuaries using the Projected Unit Credit Method. The defined benefit pension expense, which'is included in General
expenses, consists of the cost of employee pension bienefits for the current years' service, interest on the Net defined benefit liability,
and administrative expenses paid from plan assets. Remeasurements of the Net defined benefit ltability, which comprise actuarial
gains and losses and return on plan assets {excluding amounts included in net interest on the Net defined bernefit liability), are
recognized immediatély in Other Comprehensive Income in the period in which they occur. Actuarial gains and losses comprise
experience adjustments.(the effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions-and what has actually occurred), as
well-as the effécts of changes in actuarial assumptions. Past.service cost is the change in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from a plan amendment or curtailment and is charged immediately. to income.

For each defined benefit plan, the Company reécognizes the present value of the defined benefit abligations less the-fair value of the
planassets, as a defined benefit liability reported in Other liabilities an the Balance Sheet. For plans where the defined benefit liability
is negative (i.e. dsfined benefit asset), the amount is reported as an asset in Other assets.

The calculation of defined benefit expenses and obligations requires significant judgment as the recognition is dependent on discount
rates, and various actuarialassumptionssuch as healthcare cost trend rates, projected salary increases, retirement age, and mortality
and termination rates. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such estimates and assumptions are subject to inherent risks and
uricertainties. For pension and OPEB, the discount rate is determined by reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds.
Since the discount rate is based on currently available yields, and involves management’s assessment of market liquidity, it is onlya
proxy for future yields. Actuarial assumptions, set in accordance with current practices, may differ from actual experience. These
assumptions are determined by management. and are reviewed by actuaries at least annually. Changes to any of the above
assumptions may affect the amounts of benefits obligations and remeasurements that the Company recognizes. '

The contribution to defined contribution plans are expensed when employees have rendered services in exchange for such
contributions, generally in the year of contribution. Defiried contribution plan expense s included in-General expenses.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i

i

Current vs. non-current’

Assets are considered. current when expectéd to be realized within the Company’s normal operating cycle of one year. Liabilities are
classified as current when expected'to be settled within the Company’s normal operating cycle of one year. All other asséts and
liabilities are considered as non-current.

In line with industry practice for insurance companies, the Company's Balance Sheet is not presented using current and non-current
classifications, but are rather presented broadly in order of liquidity. However, the following balances are geherally consideredto be
current: Investments.and loans, Reinsurance assets, and most items in Other assets and Other liabilities.

The fotlowing balances are generally considered non-current: Deferred tax.assets, Premises and equipment, Intangible assets and
Deferred tax liabilities.

Transition

Upon the adoptian of IFRS 17, the full retrospective approach was applied for all insurance and relnsurance contracts unless it was
impracticable to do so. The full retrospective approach was applied to all contracts measured using the PAA and all new contracts
issued on and after Novernber 1, 2022 measured using the GMM and VFA as if IFRS 17 had always been applied. Due to data
availability and the inability to use hindsight, the fair value approach-was applied to contracts issued before November 1, 2022 that
were measured under the GMM and VFA. Under the fair value approach, gach portfolio comprises only one-group, and the CSM was
calculated as the difference between the fair value of a group of contracts and the fulfilment cash flows using reasonable and
supportable information available at the transition date. To determine the fair value of a group of contracts, the requirements of
(ERS 13 Fair Value Measurement were applied. The adjusted fulfilment cash flows approach was used to calculate the fair value of
groups of insurance contracts at the transition date. This valuation technigue adjusts the future cash flows for changes in the cost of
capital to reflect what a market participant, simifar to the Company in size and capital resources, would require for accepting such
contract obligations. Key assumptions involve the weighted average cost of capital (WACC), requiréd Life Insurance capital adequacy
test {LICAT) capital targets and underlying insurance assumptions from a market participant’s perspective.

Page 29 of 74




RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

3.

4,

"FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES

The Company is currently assessing the impact of adopting the following standards on the financial statements:

Amendments to the:
Classification-and
Measurément of
Financial nstruments

IFRS 18 Presentation
and Disclosure in
Financial Statements
{IFRS 18)

in May 2024, the JASB issued Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial instruments
which amends [FRS 9 Financial Instruments and JFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (the
Amendments). The. Amendments clarify the recognition and dereccognition of financial instruments and
introduce an accounting. policy option for financial fiabilities settled through electronic payment systems.
The Amendments also clarify classification guidance for financial assets with contingent features not directly
related to changes in basic. fending risks and Introduce ‘additional related disclosure requirements for
financial instruments with such contingent features. The Amendmients will be effective for the Compaiy on
Noveriber 1, 2026 and will be applied retrospectively with no restatement of comparative periods required.
To manage theimplementation of the Amendments, the Company is in the process of assessing the impact
on systems, processes and financial reporting and continue to assess the impact of adopting the
Amendments on our Financial Statements.

In April 2024, the [ASB issued IFRS 18,-which sets out requirements for the presentation and disclosure of
information in the financial statements. IFRS 18 will replace 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and
accompanies limited amendments to other standards which will be effective upan the adoption of the new
standard. The standard introduces new defined subtotals to be presented in the Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Iricome, disclosure of management-defined performance measures and requirements for
aggregation and disaggregation of information. This standard will be effective for us-on November 1, 2027
and will be applied retrospectively, with the restatement of comparatives. To manage the transition to IFRS
18, the Company is in the process of assessing the impact on systems, processes and financial reporting
required foradoption and continue to assessthe impact of adopting this standard on financial statements.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Asat Qctober 31, 2025 2024
Cash and balances with banks s 68 S 160
Short-term less than 90 days 61 20
s 229 ¢ 180
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5.

INVESTMENTS

a) The Company has an investment policy, the application of which is monitored by an Investmerit Management Committee. This
policy allows for investments in specific asset-classes, aimed at.achieving appropriate duratioh matching against insurance contract

liabilities.
The Company's investments and 16ans consist of the following:

Asat October 31,

2025

2024

Eair/
Carrying value

‘Fair/
Carrying value

Financial assets

Shart term
Classified as FVTPL s 17 381
Classified as FVQC! - ‘83
17 464
Bonds and Jong term debt
Classified as FVTPL 14,147 12,369
Classified as FVQCI 2,516 2,270
16,663 14,639
Commeon shares and invastment funds:
Classified as FVTPL 2,475 2,297
Designated as FVOCI 496 385
Preferred shares
Designated as FYOCI i6 15
Mortgages
Classified as FVTPL 1,276 1,211
Classified as FVOCI 557 579
1,833 1,790
Term loans
Classified as FVTPL 2,153 1,555
Classified as EVOCI 386 405
2,539 1,960
Segregated funds
Classified as FVTPL 3,810 3,378
S 3,810 3,378
Other invested assets
Classified as amortized cost 551 514
S 28,400 25,442
Totals by designation
Classified as FVTPL 23,878 21,191
Designated as FVOCI 512 400
Classified as FYOCI 3,459 3,337
Classified as amortized cost 551 514
5 28,400 25,442
Financial liabilities
Ohligation related to assets seld under repurchase agreement
Designated as FVTPL $ 3,625 2,621
Derivative fiahilities
Classified FVTPL 76 128
Investient contract liabilities
Designated s FVTPL 36 40
Total financial fiabilities by FVTPL designation 5 3,737 2,789
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5. INVESTMENTS (continued)

b} The list of differerice between hook value and carrying value of FVTOC! assets:

As at October 31, 2025 2024
Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Amortized Unre_alized Unrealized
cost gains losses FVOC! cost Bains losses: EVOC

Short Term - - - - 23 - - 83
Bohds and longterm debt § 2,563 & -8 {47) $ 2516 $ 2257 § 13 S - § 23270
Comimon Shares 272 229 - 496 260 125 - 385
Praferred shares 14 2 - 16 14 1 - 15
Mortgages 544 13 - 557 566 13 . 579
Term loans 387 - {1} 386 408 - {3} 405

$ 3780 $ 2385 S5 [48) $ 3971 $ 3588 $ 152 3) $ 3737

in the nermal course of business, the Company buys and sells passive interests in certain structured entities such as investment
funds, mortgaga-back securities and assat-back securities. The investmants in these entities are managed as part of larger
portfolios which are held for trading, liquidity or other purposes. The Company did not create or sponsor these entities and does
not have any decision-making power over their ongoing activities. The maximum exposure to loss is limited to on-balance sheet
investments in these entities, which areincluded in the table above.

Allowance for credit losses on investrment securities
Components of allowance for credit losses an investment securities include the following:
s Transfers between stages, which are presumed to occur before any corresponding remeasurement of the allowance.

*  Purchases and originations, which reflect the allowance related to assets newly recognized during the period, including
those assets that were derecognized following a modification of terms.

*  Derecognitions and maturities, which reflect the allowance related to assets derecognized during the period without a
creditloss being incurred, including those assets that were derecognized following a modification of terms.

*  Remeasurements, which comprise the impact of changes in mode! inputs or assurnptions, including changes in forward
locking macreeconomic conditions; partial repayments and additional draws on existing facilities; changes in.the

measurement following a transfer between stages; and unwinding of the time value discount dug to the passage of time.

€} Underlying items for Investment Contiracts are as follows:

As at October 31, 2025 2024

Bonds and long term debt $ 7 3 8
Term loans 27 29
Total supporting assets. s 34 5 37
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6.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

In accordance with IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement ("IFRS 13”), the Company's assets and liabilities recorded at fair value have been
categorized based upon the following fair value hierarchy. Each ievel is based on the transparency of the inputs used to measure the fair
values of assets and liabilities. The classification of a financial instrument in'the hierarchy is based upon the lowast level of input that is
significant to the measurement of fair value. See note 2. The following table presents the financial instruments measured at fair value

classified by the fair value hierarchy set-out in IFRS 13.

As at Octaber 31, 2025 2024
Leveil tevel 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

FVTPL
Short term $ 17 5§ - $ - 8 17 $ 381 § - 5 - 5 38
Bonds and long term debts 539 13,608 - 14,147 1,394 10,975 - 12,369
Mortgages - 1,276 - 1,276 - 1,188 22 1,211
Term [oans - 1,171 982 2,153 - 894 661 1,555
Segregated funds 3,810 - - 3,810 3,378 - - 3,378
Common shares and investment funds 1,344 - 631 2,475 1,723 - 574 2,297
Total FVTPL 6,210 16,055 1,613 23,878 5,876 13,058 1,257 21,191
FvoCi
Short term - - - - 83 - - 83
Bonds and long term debts - 2,516 - 2,516 - 2,270 - 2,270
Common-shares and

investment funds 435 - - 496 385 - - 385
Preferred shares 16 - - 16 15 - - 15
Mortgages - 557 - 557 - 577 2 579
Term loans - 321 65 386 - 337 68 405
Total FVOCI 512 3,394 65 3,971 483 3,184 70 3,737
Total financial assets measured

at fairvalug $6722 & 19443 S 1,678 $ 27,849 $ 7,359 $ 16242 $ 1,327 $ 24,978
Obligation related to assets sold under

repurchase agreement. [ - 8 3,625 $ - $§ 3625 & - 8 2,621 S - & 2621

Derivative liabilities (assets) {32) 121 {13} 76 {13} 78 63 128
Investment contract liabilities - 36 - 36 - 40 - 40
Total financial liabilities measured

at fair value $ (32) & 3782 5 {(13) $ 3,737 & (13) § 2,739 % 63 § 2,789
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT {continued)
Changes to fair value measurement

The following table presents the changes in fair value measurements included in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy during the years ended,
QOctober 31, 2025 and 2024. In the tables below, transfers in and out of Level 3-are assumed to occur at the end of the year. For an asset
or a liability that transfers into Leve!l 3 during the year, the entire change in fair value for the year is excluded from the “Total
realized/unrealized gains {losses) included in net income”, whereas for transfers out of Level 3.during the year, the entire change in fair
value for the year is included.

For the year ended October 31, 2025
FVTPL FVoc
‘Common shares Derivatives
Mortgages Term ahd inv_estfnent net As'sets Mortgages Term Total
Loans : el Loans
funds {Liabilities}
Fair value, beginning of year $ 22 660 575 (63) & 2 68 & 1,264
Total réalized/unrealized_g_ains {losses)
included in net income - 47 11 2 - - a0
Total unrealized losses included in OCI - (3} {3)
Purchases - 275 43 12 - - 332
Sales/maturities (13} - - - - - (19)
Transfer out of Level 3 (3} - - 62 {2) - 52
Fair value, end of year s - 982 631 13 s - 65 S 1,691
Total unrealized {losses) gains included
in income of the year ended October 31
for positions still held 3 - 47 1z 13 s - {31 $ 69
For the year ended Qctober 31, 2024
FVTPL FVOC]
Common shares  Derivatives Total
Mortgages Term Leans and investment netAssets  Mortgages Term Loans
funds {Liabilities)
Fairvalue, beginning of year S - 331 532 (5) s - 40 5 898
Total realized/unrealized gains (losses) -
included in netincome - 111 (18) 1 94
Total unrealized losses included in CCl - 28 28
Purchases - 218 61 {60) - - 219
Sales/maturities 17 17
Transfer into Level 3 22 - - 2 - 24
Transfer out of Level 3 - - - {16} - - {16)
Fair value, end of year s 22 660 575 63} S 2 68 § 1,264
Total unrealized (losses} gains included
in income of the year ended October 31
for-positions still hetd $ - 111 {18) 1 5 - 28 & 122

Transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 are primarily due to either a change in the market observability for an input, or a change irf an.
unobservable input’s significance to a financial instrument’s fair value.

The Company utifizes the unit values provided by the asset minagement companies on a monthly ar quarterly basis-to derive fair value for
comimercial real estate and .infrastructure equity holdings. Those unit values-are based on net assets value. +10% variation of unit value
would result in valuation change of $63 (2024 - 557).

The financial assets designated as FVTPL, the Company measure the change in fair value attributable. to changes in credit risk as the
difference between the tdgtal change in the fair value of the instrumeént during the period and the change in fair value: calculated using the
appropriate risk-free yield curves.
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6.  FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENT {continued)

Level 3 valuation inputs and approaches to.deve[oping reasonably possible alternative assumptions

The following table is a summary of the unobservable inputs used in the valuation of the Level 3 instruments ahd our approaches and
ranges of input to developing reasonably passible alternative assumptions used to determine sensitivity.

As at Detober 31, 2025
Fair value Range of input values
Significant Weighted
Reporting line in the fair unphservable ) average/ inputs
Products value hierarchy table Assets  Liabilities  Valuation technigues inputs Low High distribution
Non-derivative
Financial
instrumeénts - Leans - Term Loans 1,047 - Price-based Prices 62 118 92
corporate debt
Private equities, . . i i
Shvestments related Equities 631 - NetAssets-Valuesfunit NAV {10%) 10% 0%
Interest rate Assets 16 - Discounted tash flows  Interest rate 3% 3% 3%
derivatives [Swaps})  |iabilities - 3  Discounted cashflows  Interest rate 3% 3% 3%
Total 51,694 53
As at Octcber 31, 2024
Fair valug Range of input values
Significant Weighted

Reporting ling in the fair unohservable average/ inputs
Products value hierarchy table Assets liakilities  Valuation techniques  inputs- lLow High  distribution
Non-derivative
Financial Loans --Mortgages 24 - Discounted cash flows  Credit spread 1% 10% 6%
instruments-
corporaté debt | pans- Term Loans 728 - Price-based Prices 65 116 92
Private equities,
investments Equities 575 - NetAssets Valuesfunit NAV (10%} 10% 0%
refated
Interest rate Assets 3 - Discounted cash flows  Interestrate 3% 3% 3%
derivatives
{Swaps) Liabititios - 66 Discounted cashflows  Interestrate 3% 3% 3%
Total $1,330 566

ey B
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT {continued)

Sensitivity of Level 3 to using reasonably possible altarnative assumptions

For the years ended October 31, 2025 and 2024, the employment of reasanahly possible alternative assumptions for the measurement of
fair value of Level 3 assets would not have had a significant impact onh the Net income of the Company.

A financial instrument is classified as Level 3in the fair value hierarchy if 6ne.or more of its unobservable inputs may significantly affect the
measurement of its fair value, In preparing the financial statements, appropriate levels for these unobservable input parameters are chosen
so that they are consistent with prevailing market evidence or management, judgment. Due to the unobservable nature of the prices or
rates, there may be uncertainty about the valuation of these Level 3 financial instruments.

The following table summarizes the impacts to fair values of Level 3 financial instruments using reasonably possible alternative
assumptions. This sensitivity disclosure is intended to illustrate the potential impact of the relative uncertainty in the fair value of Level 3
financial instruménts, in reporting the sensitivities below, we offset balances in instances where:

(i) The move invaluation factors cause an offsetting positive and negative fair value movement,
(it) Both offsetting instruments are in Level 3, and:

(i)}, Expasures are managed and reported on a-net basis. With respect to overall sensitivity, it is unlikely in practice that all reasonably
possible alternative assumptions would simultanecusly be realized.

As at October 31, 2025

Positive fair Negative fair
value value
movement movement % of [3 FV for % of L3FV for
from using from using Positive Negative
possible possible Sensitivity Sensitivity
Millions of Canadian dollars Level 3 FV alternatives alternatives Movement Movement
Trading
Equities 631 63 {63) 10% {10%)
Mortgages - - - - -
Term Loans 1,047 6 {6} 1% {1%)
Swaps i6 2 (£} 10% {5%}
Total Assets 51,694 571 5(70)
Trading
Swaps 53 $- §- 10% {5%)
Total Liabilities $3 S 5-
Asat October '31', 2024
Positive fair Negative fair
value value
mavement movement shof t3FVIar  %ofL3FVfor
from using from using. Positive Negative
possible possible Sensitivity Sensitivity
Millions of Canadian.dollars Level 3 FV alternatives alternatives Movement: Movement
Trading
Equities 574 57 (57 10% {10%})
Mortgages 24 1 {3) - {12%)
Term Loans 729 4 {4) 1% (196}
Swaps 3 - - 4% (296)
Total Assets $1,330 562 ${64)
Trading
Swaps $66 82 5(1) 3% {2%)
Total Liakilities $67 $2 $(1)
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1

RISK MANAGEMENT

a)

Financial risk management

The Comipany uses an enterprise risk management framework to assist in categorizing, monitoring and managing the risks to which
it is exposed, The key risks are éredit risk, liquidity risk and market risk [foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and equity risk), The
following describes these risks and how the Company manages each of the risks:

i}

Credit risk

Credit risk is-the risk of financtal loss resulting from the failure of debtors making payments when due. The following policies
and procedures are in pface to manage this risk:

This risk is mitigated by maintaining a diversified portfolio, to avoid an undue concentration of assets in any single geographic
area, industry, company and a group of companies.

As part of the investment policy, all corporate investments must have a credit rating of BBB or greater when they are purchased,
uniess otherwise approved by the Company’s Group Risk Management. There are ranges prescribed for each asset class which
need to be complied with, as well as a target range for each asset class.

There is a Single Name Lirhit framework to limit extensive exposurg to one company.
The portfolios are monitared periodically by the Head — Investments, Investment Committee of the Board.

As at October 31, 2025 and 2024 there were no mortgages and term loans past due for greater than 90 days that dre notirisured
by CMHC, and there were no other impaired investments.

Maximum exposure to credit risk:

The following table summarizes the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk related to financial assets. The maximum credit
exposure is the carrying value of the assets nat of any allowance for impairments, if any:

As at October 31, 2025 2024
Cash and cash equivalents: S 229 3§ 180
Short term 17 464
Bonds and long term debt

FVTPL 14,147 12,369

FvOZ 2,516 2,270
Common shares and investment funds

FVTPL 2,475 2,297

Fvocl 496 385
Preferred shares 16 15
Mortgages

FYTPL 1,276 1,211

EVOC! 557 579
Term loans

FVTPL 2,153 1,555

FvOCI 386 405
Insurance and re-insurance contract assets 1,782 1,779
Otherassets 764 499
Total makimum risk exposures S 26,814 S 24,008

Amounts have been revised from those previously presented.
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7.

RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

a}

Financial risk management {continued)

Credit risk concentration:

The following table provides details of fair value of bonds and long term debt by sector and geographical location:

As-at October 31, 2025 2024
Short term Guoranteed by:
Canadian Federal government $ 17 35 464
Total government Issued-bonds 17 464
Bonds and fong term debt Guaranteed by:
Canadian Federal government b3 2211 § 2,645
Canadian Provincial and Municipal government 6,821 4,756
QOthers 39 -
Totdl governmerit issued bonds 9,071 7,441
Corporate Bonds by Sectors:
Automotive 43 53
Consumer goods 339 612
Energy 123 112
Financial 1,624 1,144
Industrial products 116 173
Minthg & metals 122 171
Telecommunication media 486 401
Transportation & environmental 805 712
Other 3,834 3,820
Total by sectar 7,592 7,198
Total $ 16,680 S 15,103
Canada S 13523 5 11,375
USA 2,393 3,074
Others 764 654
$ 16,680 $ 15,103

As at October 31, 2025 and 2024 all of the above securities are denominated in Canadian dollars,
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)
a) Financial risk management (continued)

Credit quality:

The following table provides details of cash equivatents, bonds, long term debt and, preferred shares by independent ratings:

As at October 31, 2025 2024
Cash and cash equivalents
AAA 61 20
Unrated (Cash) 168 160
229 180
Short term
AAA 17 464
' 17 464
Bonds, long term debt, Morigages and Term loans
AAA 3,140 3,885
AR 5,986 4,485
A 6,850 6,111
BBB 4,318 3,702
BB and lower 758 670
21,052 18,853
Preferred shares
Pfd-3 i6 15
16 15

As at October 31, 2025 and 2024, Bonds and long term debt are rated at the second highest of Moody's, S&P and Fitch ratings.

Where fewer than three ratings are available, the Corpany uses the lowest available rating.
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
a} Financial risk management (continued)
i) Liguidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be. abie to meet ali cash flow obligations as they become due. This could Fesult in
realized gains or losses if actual policyholder benefits payment patterns differ significantly from those expected, requiring earlier than
expected liquidation.of assets to meet policy obligations. The Company closely monitors operating liquidity through cash flow matching
of assets and liabilities. The Company does not anticipate any significant liguidity concerns in funding liabilities when due. As a life
insurance company, significant cash and invested assets are held to meet long tarm obligations and therefore liquidity risk is considered

low for the day to day operations. However, the Company is also regulated by OSF and as such is required to comply with certain capital
requirerents to ensure the Company has sufficient assets to meet those long term obligations and is further described in Note 6.

The following tables present the expected maturity profile of the Company's undiscounted estimated cash flows of insurance contract
and reinsurance contract held liahilities. These cash flows include estimates related to the timing and payment of death and disability
claims, policy.surrenders, policy maturities, annuity payments, policyholder dividends, amounts on depdsit, commissions.and premium
taxes offset by contractual future premiums and fees on in-force business. These estimated cash flows ate based on the best estimate
assumptions used in the determination of insurance contract and reinsurance contract held liabilities including risk adjustment for non-
financial risk. Due to the use of assumptions, actual cash flows may differ from these estimates. Cash flowsfrom reinsurance contract
held fiabilities are presented net of cash flows from reinsurance contract held assets. Amounts payable on demand are included in the
less than 1 yéar bucket. Amounts in the table include contracts measured under the PAA and segregated fund account balances.

As at, October 31, 2025
Le';se::? 1 1to2vyears 2to3years 3todyears 4toSyears Over5years Total
1]
Insurance contract liabilities S 9,327 808 828 842 260 27,385 40,050
Reinsurance contract held
Jiabllities (350} (59} {66) (73) {76) {1,804} {2,428)
Total S 8,977 749 762 769 784 25,581 37,622

wincludes $8,224 in amounts payable on demand, $8,532 gross and ($308) ceded.

As at, October 31,2024
'Le_sysetahr?? 1 lto2years 2to3years 3todyears 4ioSyears OverSyears Total
" Y
insurance contract liabilities $ 8,587 657 678 703 718 26,067 37,410
Reinsurance contract held
fiabilities (328) (55) (59) (65) (72). (1,815) {2,394)
Total S 8,259 602 619 638 646 24,252 35,016

mincludes $7,643 in amounts payable:on demand, $7,932 gross and {5289} ceded.

The table below shows expected remaining CSM recognition of insurance contracts issued.
As at October 31, 2025

Withinl  ltoSyears 5to10years Thereafter  CSM Total

Contractual Service Margin balances

Contractual Service Margin 5 (110) {434) (300) {356} {1,200}
Total Contractual Service Margin balances $ {110) {a34) {300) {356) {(1,200)
As at October 31, . 2024

Withinl  1toSyears 5to10vears Thereafter  CSM Total
Contractual Service Margin balances
Contractual Service Margin S {11B) (480) {360} {(451) {1,407}
Total Contractual Service Margin balances [ {116) (480} {360} {a51) {1,407)
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT {continued)

Derivative instruments

To safeguard agaihst the fluétuations in the interest rate, foreign currency exchange rate, and equity markets, the Company
entered into-certain derivative transactions. The Company has exchange traded Futures Equity-and other contracts {"Futures”),
Forward contracts (“Forwards”) and over-the-counter Interest rate and currency swap contracts {"Swaps”).

Notional amount of derivative financial instruments are the basis for calculating payments and fair value are generaily. not the
actual amounts exchanged. The following table provides the fair value of derivative instruments as at October 31 by type of
derjvative and term to maturity:

As at October 2025 2024
Swaps Swaption Futures Swaps Swaption Futures

Re;::e .Pay lLeg vV Fv FV Re::glve Pay Leg Fv Fv [aY
Under-lyear § - - - 32 $ - - - 13
1to Syears - - - 1 - - - - 1 -
Over 5 years: 6,550 (6,718} {117) g - 5508 (5,612} {150} 8 -
Total $ 6550 (5718 (117)$ 9 32 ¢ 5508 (5612} (150)% g 13
Total
derivative fair § (76) 5 (128}
valye

The remainder of the Comipany’s.Other liabilities including assets sold under repurchase agreements mature within 1 year.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

In the case of derivatives, collateral of margin cash is collected from or pledged to.counterparties and clearing houses to manage
credit risk exposure in accordance with Credit Support Annexes to swap agreements and clearing agreements. Under master
netting agreements, the company has a right of offset in the event of default, insolvency, bankruptey or other early termination
aswell as settlement during normal course of business.

The fair vatue of defivative financial instruments by major.class of derivative as at October 31 s as follows:

As at-Octoher 31 2025 2024

Swaps Swaption Futures Swaps Swaption. Futures
Assefs -5 g9 8 3z S -8 g s 13
Liabllitles 3 117 § 5 - & 150 $ s -

i} Marketrisk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value will decline due to changes in'the cagital markets for:
= Insurance and reinsurance contracts
*  Finaricial instruments

The thrae primary types of market risks aret interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and equity risk.
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7.

RISK MANAGEMENT ({continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk exists if there is a misinatch between asset and liability cash flows. The risk comes from the need to reinvest
future net cash flows at potentially unfavourable interest rates. As a resuit of cash flow mismatches, subsequent changes in
interest rates cause the fairvalue of the assets and liabilities to change by different amounts. The Company has policies in place
to limit this risk exposure, and procedures to regularly measure and ensure compliance with exposure risk limits. Risk
measuremerit considers potential changes under a variety of adverse interest rates sceriarios, and the risk exposure is reported
no less than quarterly o senjor management.

An analysis of the Company's sensitivity to 1% parallél increase or decrease in market interest rates at the reporting date,
assuming that all other variables remain constant, is presented below. The Company’s sensitivity to 1% irterest rate movernents
in 2025 was insignificant. The sensitivity of surplus asset to interest rate risk is neutral as it is reported using OCl accounting.

October 31, 2025 Increase (decrease)to net income {post-tax)
Before reinsurance held Net of reinsurance held

Market variables:

1% increase in market interest rates (6} 8

1% decrease’in market interest rates 3 3

October 31, 2024 Increase {decrease) to net income (post-tax)
Befora reinsurance held Net of reinsurance held

Market variables:

13 increase in market interest rates - -

1% decrease in market interest rates 4 4

Foreign-exchange risk

Foreign exchange (“FX”) risk represents the risk of financial losses resulting from a mismatch in the currency.of the liahilities
and that of the assets supporting the liabilities. The investment policies and guidelines of the Company limit FX risk. As at
October 31, 2025 and 2024, the Company holds approximately U$32.8 billion and US$3.2 billion USD bonds respectively. The
assaciated currency risk was minimized through foreign exchange swap. This exposure is actively monitored by the Investments
team and impacts are captured in regular monthly reporting ta senior management although not explicitly disclosed.
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Equity risk

Equity risk represents the. risk of financial losses arising as a result of an adverse movementin equity prices. The Company has
an‘exposura toequity risk that is not passed through to the policyholder due to {1 a small allocation of its total insurance asset
portfolio to the equity asset ¢lass; to support insurance liabilities, {2) exposure to a:decrease in the future spread earnings on
Universal Life indexed funds inherert in the reserve calculation, (3} margin on equity pass-through risk associated with the
Universal Life non-leveraged Smooth Return Investment Account (SRIA), and {4)-a block of segregated funds offering minimum

guarantees.

An analysis of the Company’s sensitivity to a 1% increase ot decrease in equity prices at the reporting date, assuming that all
other variables remain constant, is presented belows. The Company’s. sensitivity to 10% equity market movements in 2024 was
close to neutral. The sensitivity of surplus asset to equitty risk.is neutral as it is reported using OCi accounting..

Increase {decrease) to net income Increase (decrease)

October 31, 2025 {post-tax) to C5M (before tax)
Before Net of Before Net of
reinsurance held  reinsurance heltl  réinsurance held  reinsurance held
10% increase in equity market values: 2 2 14 14
10% decrease in equity market valuas 2) (2) (16) (16)

Increase {decrease) to net income Increase {decrease)

October 31, 2024 {post-tax} to CSM {before tax)
Before Net of reinsurance Before _ Net of reinsurance
reinsurance heid held reinsurance held held
10% increase in equity market values - - 16 16
10% decrease in equity market values - - {18) {19)
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7.

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b).

Insurance and other risk management

.

ii}

iii)

9]

Insurance risk

Insurance risk is the risk of fluctuations in the timing, frequency ar severity of insured events, relative to the expectations of the
Company at the time of underwriting. Management determines concentration in a way such that there s a financial limit on
the amount of loss the Company is wiliing to accept for any one risk under a moderate stress event, where the stress event is
determined to be specific to-that risk-type. The Company is expased to mortality risk {$7.7 billion), morbidity risk {$1.8 billion},
longevity risk {$7.3 billion) and lapse risk ($8:2 billion), with sensitivities to these risks discussed note 11.

Underwriting and pricing risk

Undefwriting risk is the risk that the risk selection criteria and/or classification is not aligned with the true underlying risk
axposure of the {re)insured, while pricing risk is the risk that the actual amount, timing, and/or frequency of benefit paymeants
exceeds the premium collected for the {re)insurance cantract. The Company manages underwriting and pricing risk through
the use of underwriting guidelines which detail the class, nature and type of business that may be acéepted; pricing policles by
product line and by brand; and centralized controf of policy wordings

Claims management risk

The risk that claims are handled or paid inappropriately is mitigated using a range of IT systern controls and manual procésses
ronducted by experienced staff. These; together with a range of detailed policies and procedures ensure that all claims are
handled in a timely, appropriate and accurate manner.

Reinsurance risk

Reinsurance is used to protect against the impact of major catastrophic events or unforeseen volumes of, or adverse trends in,
targe individual claims and to transfer risk that is outside the Company's current risk appetite. Reinsurance of risks above the
Company's risk appetite is only effective If the reinsurance premium is-econgmic and the counterparty is financially secure.
Acceptable reinsurers are rated A- or better uniess specifically authorized by the Company’s Group Risk Management.

The following table provides details.of reinsurance contract assats and liabilities by independent ratings:

Reinsurance contract assets 2025 2024

At+ [ 1 5 -

A+ 1,612 1,531

A 160 149

A- - 57

not rated - 20
$ 1,773 $ 1,757

As at October 31, 2025 and 2024 reinsurance-assets rated based on AM Best ratings.
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7. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

v} Legal and regulatory-environment risk

Reguiatory risk refers to the impact of penalties, fines, and restrictions on thé ability to ¢arry on business as a result of
noncompliance with regulatory requirements. 1t also includes the risk that modifications to regulations will threaten the
Company's ability and capacity to conduct business-in the future in the manner it does today. As a participant in the life
insurance industry, the Compariy is subject to significant regulation by the federal and provincial governrhents. The Company
has established procedures and controls to gain reasonable assurance that it is in compliance with all relevant laws, rules and
regulations. lt is:possible that future regulatory changes may prevent the Company from taking actions, such as raising rates,
to affect operating results. In addition, future regulatory changes or court decisions could drastically change the business
environment in which the Company operates. The Company actively participates in discussions with regulators, governments,
and industry-groups to.ensure that significant concerns are understood.
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8.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company is subject to the guidelines regarding capital framework for regulated insurance companies by the O5Fl. Under these
guidelines, the Company Is subject to the Life Insurance Capital Adequacy Test {“LICAT"} guidance that applies:to Canadian fife insurance
companies, UCAT came into effect on lanuary 1, 2018. OSFI's supervisory target for Core ratio is 70% and for Total ratio is 100%. OSF|
expects life insurance cormpanies to internally set a target LICAT ratio, in accordance with GSFl guideline A-4 based on the risk profile of
the insurance company.

The-Company has a capital management framewoark in place to measiire, deploy and monitor its available capital and assess its adequacy.
Senior management develops the capital strategy and oversees the capital management processes of the Company. The Board of
Directors reviews and approves all capital transactions undertaken by-the management. The Company's practice is to establish annually
and maintain a target LICAT ratio, which is above the minimum reguiatory requirements.

This policy is also intended to provide an appropriate level of risk management.over capital adequacy risk, which is defined as the risk
that capital is not or wili not be sufficient to withstand adverse conditions, to maintain financial strength or to aliow the Company. to take
advantage of opportunities for expansion.

As at October 31, 2025.and October 31, 2024, the Company was in compliance with OSFI’s supervisory target.
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9. INSURANCE SERVICE RESULT

2025 2024
Individual Group  Total Individual  Group Total

Insurance revenue

Contracts not measuraed under PPA
Amount relating to the.changes in the LRC

Risk adjustment recognized for-the risk expired $ 145 12 157 S 131 6 137

Expected incurred claims and other insurance service expense 815 560 1,375 811 453 1,264

'CSM Recognized in profit or loss for the service provided 186 29 215 174 25 159

Recovery.of Insurance Acquisition Cash Flows 97 1 98 a0 3 81
Insurance revenue from contracts not measured under the PAA 1,243 602 1,845 1,196 485 1,681
Insurance revenue from contracts measured under the PAA - 692 692 - 655 B55
Total insurance revenue u apy $ 1,243 1,794 2,537 & 1,156 1,140 2,336
Insurance service expenses
Incurred claims and. other directly attributable expenses (835} (1,286) (2,122} (817} (1,079) {1,896)
Changes that felate to past service - adjustments to the LIC 1 66 67 - 11 11

onerous contracts and reversal of those losses (169} {35) {204} (171} {12} (183)

.Amortization of insurance acquisition cash (97} (1} {98) (80} - {80}

Insurance-acquisition impairment {6} {1} {7) - - -
Total insurance sérvice expensas (iaw S {1,107) {1,257) (2,364) $ (1,068) (1,080) (2,148)
Net income {expenses) from reinsurance contracts held
Allocation of Reinsurance Premiums Paid {426} - {426} (359} - (359)
Recoveries of Incurred Claims and Other Insurance Service Expenses ‘365 - 365 301 - 301
Total Amounts Recoverable from Reinsurers 365 - 365 301 - 301
Net Expenses from Reinsurance Contracts Held (61) - (61) {58} - {58}
Total insurance service result H] 75 37 112 § 70 60 130

(1) Includes S676MM in [ndividual Life {2024-5659MM), $380MM in Individual Disability (2024-5391MM), $187MM in Individual - Other

{2024-$146)
{2} Includes $602MM in Group Annuity (2024-5485MM) and $692MM in Group L&H {2024-5655MM)

(3) Includes 5565MM in Individual Life {2024-8544MM}, $380MM in Individual Disability {2024-$368MM), $162MM in Individual - Other [2024-

5156MM)
{4} Includes $596MM in Group Annuity (2024-$470MM) and $662MM in Group L&H {2024-S610MM)

Page 47 of 74



RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

10. NET INVESTMENT RESULT

a) Netinvestmentincome excluding provision for credit loss {PCL) has the following compenents;

For the year ended October 31, 2025 2024
FVTPL  FVOCI Other Total FVIPL  FVDC Other Total

Interest income

Cash and cash equivalents $ -5 - % 9 5 8 § - § - $ 12 5 12
Bonds and long term debt 548 68 - 616 403 67 - 470
Maortgages 55 25 - 80 45 22 - 67
Term loans 86 18 - 114 64 17 - 81
Segregated funds 105 - - 105 97 - - 97
Other invested assets - - - - 120 30 11 161

804 111 9 924 729 136 23 888

Amortization of discount/premium

Bonds and long term debt 56 31 - 87 63 26 - 89
Gains (Losses)

Realized net gains (losses)

‘Bonds and fong term debt {(370) 28 - (342} (705} 22 - (683)
Common shares and investment funds 54 - - 54 26 - - 26
Foreign exchange 8 - - 8 2 - - 2
‘Derivatives 207 - - 207 41 - - 41
Segregated Funds 210 - - 210 100 - - 100
Unrealized net gains (losses)
Bonds and long term debt 24 - - 24 2,303 - - 2,303
Mortgages 4 - - 4 119 - - 119
Term toans 10 - - 10 160 - - 160
Common sharas and investment funds 111 - - 111 222 - - 222
Foreign exchange 8 - - 8 {21) - - (21)
Derivatives 91 - - g1 {412} - - (412}
Segregated Funds 175 - - 178 532 - - 532
Gther loans and invested assets - - 48 48 - - - -
588 59 48 695 2,430 48 - 2,478
Dividend income
Common shares and investment funds 118 11 - 129 81 7 - 88
Preferred shares - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1
118 12 - 130 81 8 - 89
-Gross investment income (losses) gains 1,510 182 57 1,749 ‘3,240 192 23 3,455
Less: Investment expenses 109 - 10 119 109 - 15 124
Net investment income $ 1,408 & 182 5 47 & 1,630 5 3,131 192 8 3,331
Cash and cash equivatents [ -5 -8 g % 9 & - S -% 12 § 12
Bonds and long térm debt 258 127 - 385 2,064 115 - 2,179
Common shares and investment funds 283 11 - 299 329 7 - 336
Preferred shares - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1
Derivatives 314 - - 314 {350) - - {390}
Mortgages 59 25 - B84 164 22 186
Term loans 106 18 - 124 224 17 241
Segregated funds 490 - - 490 729 - 729
Other Joans and invested assets - - 43 43 120 30 11 161
1,510 ig2 57 1,749 3,240 192 23 3,455
Less: Investment expenses 109 - 10 119 108 - 15 124.
Net investment income $1401L & 182 § 47 §$ 1,630 $ 3131 § 192 § 8 4 3,331
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10. NET INVESTMENT RESULT

b) Relationship between insurance finance income/{expenses} (IFIE} and the net investment income {loss)

Insurance Non-
Contracts Reinsurance  Total Insurance
For the year ended October 31, 2025 Issued Contracts held. Insurance  {all other) Total
Net investment income (loss):
Net investment income (Inss) recognized in.net income S 1,526 - 1,526 104 1,630
Net investment incorne (loss) recognized in OCI {43} - {43) 114 71
Total net investment income {loss) $ 1,483 - 1,483 218 1,701
Interest accreted (811) 2 (809) - (8og)
Effect of changes in discourit rates and other financial assumptions (43} 53 10 - 10
Changes in fair value of underlying items for contracts using VFA {a77) - (477} - (477}
Total insurance finance income {expenses) recognized in income {1,331) 55 {1,276} - (1,276)
Dacreased (increase) in investment contract liabilities - - - {3) (3)
Net investment result 3 152 55 207 215 422
Net investment result recognized in net income S 185 55 250 101 351
Net investment result recognized in OC $ {43} . {43) 114 71
insurance Non-
Contracts Reinsurance  Total insurance
Forthe year ended October 31, 2024 Issued Contracts held Insurance  (all other} Total
Met investment income {loss):
Net investment income {loss) recognized in net income 1 3,251 - 3,251 80 3,331
Net investmentincome {loss) recognized in OC! 162 - 162 127 289
Total net investment incoma {loss} S 3,413 - 3,413 207 3,620
Total insurance finance income (expenses) recognized Tn'net income:
Interest accreted (802) 66 {736} - (736)
Effect of changes in discount rates and other financial assumptions {(1,557) 101 [1,456) - (1,456}
Changes in fair value of underlying items for contracts using VFA (748) - (748) - {748)
Total insurance finance income (expenses) recognized in income {3,107) 167 (2,940) - {2,540)
Decreased (increase) in investment contract liabilities - - - {1) (1}
Net investment result, 5 306 167 473 206 679
Net investment result recognized in net income s 144 a67 311 79 390
Net investment result recognized in OCt 5 162 . 162 127 289

wmAmonts have been revised from those previously preserited.
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11.  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS

a) i) Key assumptions

Nature of factor and assumption methodology Risk management

Moriality and | Mortality assumptions for individual life insurance are | The Company maintains underwriting standards to
morbidity based on a combination of Company and industry | deterrmine the insurability of applicants: Claim trends
experience. For annuities, the mortality assumption | are monitored on an ongoing basis. Mortality exposure
is derived from industry experience tables. Mortality | to large claims is managed by establishing policy
improvement has been projected in future years for | retention limits. Policies in excess of the limits are
annuitants as well as forlife insurance policies: reinsured with other companies.

Morbidity assumptions-are made with respect to the | The Company’s own experience is monitored, with an
rates .of claim incidence and claim termination for | annual in depth review, supplernented with industry
health insurance policies. These assumptions are i experience.

based on a combination of Company and industry
expertence.

‘Policyholder | Under certain policies, the policyholder has a | The Company seeks to design preducts that minimize
behaviour contractual right to charige benefits and premiurns, as | financial exposure to lapse, surrender and other
well corwert policies to -permanent forms of | polieyholder behaviour risk. lapses on older term
insurance. All policyholders have the right to | policies with high premium jumps at renewal are
terminate their policies through lapse. Lapses | mitigated through the Term Renewal Offer which
represent the termination of policies due to non- | provides a discount on switching into a term product
payment of premiums. Lapse assumptions are | with annudlly renewable term rates after the renewal
primarily based on recent Company experience, | point andfor conversion to a permanent product with
adjusted for emerging industry experience where | the term rider. The Company closely monitors the
applicable. retention rate on the Term Renewal Offer and all other
risks related to policyhiolder behaviour experience.

Expenses Directly attributable future expense and directly | The Company prices its products to cover the expected
attribiitable acquisition expense assumptions are | costsof servicing and maintaining them. Inaddition, the
derived. from Internal cost studies and established | Company monitors expenses periodically, including
allocation methodologies, with Inflation as a financial | comiparisoris of actual expenses to expenie levels
assumption reflected ih the estimate of future | assumed for pricingand valuation.

expenses. For some developing businesses, there isan
expectation that unit costs will decline as these
businesses grow.

Policyholder | The ‘best estimate projections for policyholder | The Company monitors policy experience and. adjusts

dividends;, dividends and experience rating refunds, and other | policy. benefits and other adjustable elements where
experience adjustable elements of policy benefits are determined | contractually allowed to reflect this experience.
rating to be consistent with management’s expectation of

Policyholder dividends are reviewed annually for all

refunds, and { how these elements will be manzged should R i
. . businesses. under a framiework of Board-approved
other experience emarge consistently with the best olicyholder dividend policies
adjustable estimate assumptions used for mortality and policy ! 3 :
policy morbidity, investment returns, rates of -policy
alements termination, expenses and taxes.
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11.

INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS {continued)

a)

fi} Changes to key assumptions

Our annual update of assumptions used In the measurement of insurance contracts (present value of future cash flows) follows a
structured process guided by IFRS 17 and accepted Canadian-actuarial practice. This process distinguishes between non-financial
and financial risk variables.

Assumptions for nan-financial risk variables represent current, neutral estimates of expected outcomes. Their selection considers
« Current circumstances and relevant past experience from bath company éxperience data or from the industry.

« The relationship between past experience and expected future experience, including potential anti-selection.

» The relationship among all assumptions, including financial risk variables.

« Other potential factars influencing future cash flows.

Assumptions for financial risk variables are primarily derived from current, observable market prices. Adjustments are made to
reflect difference between the financial risk inherent in our praducts and those observed in relevant market instruments. Where
directly relevant market data is unavailable, assumptions are developed using the best information accessible, consistent with
IFRS 17 and accepted Canadian actuarial practice.

Impacts of management actions and assumption updates on insurance contracts for 2025 and 2024 are provided below.

For the year ended October 31, 2025

{5 millions} Reported Net Deferred in CSM  |Comments
Income Impacts | {pre-tax}
(pre-tax}
Moriality 3 - Due to Individual Life mortality improvement roll-forward.
Longevity 13 19 Due to base mortality ta‘bfe update and mortality improvement roll-
; forward for Group Annuities.

Meostly due to strengthening Individual Disability termination to reflect

Morbidity 2 {45} unfavourable experience which is mostly from Quebeac and physician
Guaranteed Standard Issue.

Policyholder ) ) Lapse experience is consistent with expectation, thus no changes for

behaviour 2025.
The overall increase in fulfillment expenses is attributed to severa| key
factors; strategic investments in digital and data capabilities, upward

Expenses {3} (119} adjustments in vendor costs, the reclassification of certain acquisition
costs into fulfillment expenses, and higher projected costs for the
repatriation of the Life & Health service centre to RBC.

Economic Credit leverage method enhancement in discount rate calculations and:

_ fayering impact due to the difference between locked-in rate and current

methodology and {4} - . . . ,

assumption change discount rate, partially offset by annual refrash of corporate default rates
which are based on S&P historical experience.

Valuation systeri and ! Minor valuation model update for Long Term Disability-and Individual

} 2 (2) .-

data changes : Disability.

Management actions {20} (24} Due to dividend.change for Participating Whole Life.

Total {7) {168}
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i1.

INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

For the yedr ended October 31, 2024

(5 millions} Reported Net Deferred in CSM  |Comments
income Impacts {pre-ta}
{pre-tax)

Mortality 2) (20) Traditional Life and_UmversaI Life mortality rate updates reflecting
unfavourable experience.

Longevity 1 10 Diie to'mortaility improvement roll-forward
Reserve strengthening to reflect-the unfavourable claim termination

o experience in Individual Disability Insurance, partially offset by a

Morbidity 4 (72) favourable morbidity impact in Group Long-Term-Disability (LTD}
praducts.

Policyholder ) (54) Reserve strengthening to reflect-unfavourable experience in Term-to-100

behaviour and Universal Life products.

Expenses 5 {41} Reserve strengthening to reflect overall higher expenses.

Economic Layering impact due to the difference between locked-in rate and current

methodology and - (8) discount rate, offset by the trade gain from assets backing CSM resulting

assumption change in neutral earnings impact.

Valuation system and % (8) Model fix for earned rates in Universal Life and manual reserve signage

data changes correction.

Management actions (13) ) Dividend change for Partl.c[patlng Whole Life and Smoothed Return
Investment Account crediting rate update.

Tatal 21 _ (191}

iii) Risk Adjustment for non-finahcial risk

The risk adjustment for nan-financial risk represents the compensation that the Company requires for bearing the uncertainty in
the amount and timing of cash flows that arises from non-finaricial risks as we fulfil the insurance contracts. Non-financial risks are
insurance risks such as mortality, morbidity, and othér risks such as lapse and expense.

The Company determines. the risk adjustment using the margin approach by applying a margin to non:financial assumptions and
discounting the resulting margin cash flowsat the same discount rates as the best estimate-cash flows. The margins established for
the non-financial assumptions are adjusted for diversification or other factors with the resulting aggregate risk adjustment and
associated confidenice level determined, The risk adjustment is-also adjusted for reinsurance to reflect the risk being transferred to
the reinsurers.

The confidence level reprasents the probability that the variability in the actual cash flows will be lower than our risk adjustment
for non-financial risk. The Cempany’s target range for the confidence fevel of the risk adjustment is between the 85th and 90th
percentile, and the risk adjustment is currently within the target range. An approximation approach is currently used that has
determined that the ending RA balances as of 2025 reflects an approximate 85th pefcentile.

iv) Estimation methods and processes

‘The'methods and processes employed to-estimate inputs for measuring insurance contract liabilities, including discount rates, risk
adjustments, and contract grouping criteria, are unchanged from the prior reporting periods. These methodologies, detaited in note
2. Summary of material accounting policies, were subject to regular validation by the actuarial and accounting function, confirming
their ongoing appropriateness.

As detailed in note 11 ¢}, sensitivity analyses performed indicate nio material deviation in the reliability of estimates. This consistency.
aligns with the stability of the Company’s underwriting activities and risk management framework during 2025.
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1%L

INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS {continued)

b)

Camposition of the balance sheet

Individual Group “Total
As at October 31, 2025
Current Insurance & Reinsurance Contracts
Insurance contract assets 3 0 3.
Insurance contract liahilities 4,715 814 5,529
Insurance cantract liabilities - segregated funds 3,654 - 3,654
Reinsurance contract assets 342 3 345
Reinsurance contract liabilities 2 - 2
Non-current [nsurance & Reinsurance Contracts
Insurance contract assets q 2 &
Insurance contract ligbilities 7,326 7,682 15,008
Insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 156 - 156
Reinsurance contract assats 1,420 8 1,428
Reinsurance contract {iabilities 8 - 8
As at October 31, 2024
Current insurance & Reinsurance Contracts
Insurance contract assets. 8 - 8
Insurance contract liabilities 4,459 716 5,175
Insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 3,241 - 3,241
Reinsurance contract assets 318 - 318
Reinsurance contract liabilities 4 - 4
Non-current Insurance & Reinsurance Contracts -
Insurance cantract assets 12 2 14
Insurance contract liabilities 7,285 6,649 13,934
Insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 137 - 137
Reinsurance contract assets 1,427 i2 1,439
Reinsurance contract liabilities 16 - 16

individual Insurance contract liabifities are primarily supporting individual life products while the group insurance contract

liabilities are primarily supporting group annuity,
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11, INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS [continued)

¢) ‘Sensitivity of insurance contract liabilities to changes in ion-economic assumptions

For the year ended Qctober 31, 2025
Increase Increase Increase
(decrease) {decrease} (decrease} [decrease)
to net to net to CSM
income income {hefore

{post-tax) {post-tax) tax)

Non-financial variables: Before After Before

2% adverse change in life

reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance reinsurance

mortality rates ag) 2 (202}
En?iftc;;:;s;::sange in annuitant (12) (12) (21)
i’zfeaédverse change in morbidity (52) (a5) (204)
10%:adverse change in lapse rates (44) {17) {257}
5% ircrease in expenses {7) {5} {36)

Note: Sensitivities to market variables are outline in note 7.




'RBC LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

11.  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS {continued)
d} Insurance contracts issued
[ Reconciliation of the lability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred daims
2025
Liakilitias for remaining Liabilities for incurred claims
coverage Contract using PAA
LIC for -
Excluding Loss contracts :;:::. 5:2: Risk Adj.
Insurance contracts issued lass not under for non Total
- component PAA future ]
component ) fin. Risk
cash flows
Opening insurance contract liabilities S 17,658 272 262 879 38 19,108
Q_pe‘nmg Insurance contract liabilities - segregated 3,378 N ; } ) 3,378
funds
Opening insurance contract assets {24) 2 {1} 1 - (22y
Net balance as at 1 November, 2024 21,012 274 261 880 .38 22,465
insurance revenue {2,537} - - - - {2,537)
Insurance service expense
Incurred claims and other directly attributable ) (13) 1,398 602 . 1,987
expenses
Elfcl:anges that relate to past service - adjustments to the- R . 1 67 ) 68
Losses on onerous contracts and reversal of those 7 204 B . } 211
losses
Insurance acquisition cash flows Amartization S8 - - - - 98
Insurance service expenses 105 191 1,399 669 - 2,364
‘Insutarice service result (2,432) 191 1,399 669 - {173)
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 1,257 a7 - 27 - 1,331
Total amounts recognized in comprehensive incomeé (2,175} 238 1,399 696 - 1,158
Investment components (677) - 677 - - -
Other changes. 231 (22) 14 {61) 3 165
Cash flows
Premiums received 3,725 - - - - 3,725
Claims:and other directly attributable expenses paid - - {2,125} {652} - {2,777)
Insurance acquisition cash flows (398) - - - - {398)
Total cash flows 3,327 - {2,125) {652) - 550
Net balance as at 31 October, 2025 $ 22,718 490 226 863 41 24,338
Closing insurance contract liabilities 18,909 4390 232 865 41 20,537
Closing Insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 3,810 - - - - 3,810
Closing insurance contract assets {1) - {6) {2) - {9)
Net balance as at 31 October, 2025 ) 22,718 490 226 863 a1 24,338
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11, INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)
e) Insurance contracts issued (continued)
i. Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and the liability for incurred claims (continued)
2024
Liabilities for remaining Liabilities for incurred claims
coverage Contract using PAA
LIC for
Excluding contracts  PrESENt pigy adi.
Insurance contracts issued loss Loss  not under valle ot for non Total
component Gamparneot PAA future fin. Risk
cash flows
Opening insurance contract liabilities S 14,785 88 203 755 34 15,865
gf:‘edr;ing Insurance contract liabilities - segregated 2,760 ) ) ) ) 2,760
Opening insurance contract assets (32) - - @ (1) (33)
Net balance as at 1 November, 2023 17,513 88 203 755 33 18,592
Insurance revenue (2,337) - - - - (2,337)
Insurance service expense
Lr;c;u;’r:isagsclaims and other directly attributable } (6) 1,258 562 20 1,834
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the } ) ) 1 } 11
LIC
:f:_r,s:: on onerous contracts and reversal of those ) 222 ) i ) 222
Insurance acquisition cash flows Amortization 81 - - - - 81
Insurance service expenses 81 216 1,258 573 20 2,148
Insurance service result (2,256) 216 1,258 573 20 (189)
Finance expenses from insurance contracts issued 3,051 (53) 20 85 4 3,107
Total amounts recognized in comprehensive income 795 163 1,278 658 24 2,918
Investment components (710) - 735 (25) - -
Other changes (154) 23 42 (34) (19) (142)
Cash flows
Premiums received 3,919 - - - - 3,919
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid - - (1,997) (474) - (2,471)
Insurance acquisition cash flows (351) - - - - (351)
Total cash flows 3,568 - (1,997) (474) - 1,097
Net balance as at 31 October, 2024 S 21,012 274 261 880 38 22,465
Closing insurance contract liabilities 17,658 272 262 879 38 19,109
Closing Insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 3,378 - = - 3,378
Closing insurance contract assets (24) 2 (1) 1 - (22)
Net balance as at 31 October, 2024 S 21,012 274 261 880 38 22,465
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11,

INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

e) Insurance contracts issued (continued)

ii. Reconciliation of the measuremeént components of insurance contract balances

2025
Prasent value diust Ris!: CSM fair
Insurance contracts issued of future cash : mfo:n::n val?:e CSM other Total
flows financial risk
Opening insarance contract liabilities $ 14,327 1,864 1,994 69 18,254
Opening Insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 3,378 - - - 3,378
Opening insurance contract assets {33} 16 {(4) 2 {19
Net halance as at 1 November, 2024 17,672 1,880 1,990 71 21,613
Changes that relate to current service
C5M recognized in profit or loss for the services provided - - (205) {10} {215}
S;\:;Ez in the risk adjustment for nonfinancial risk for the risk _ 1157} . _ (157}
Experience adjustments 11 - - - 11
11 {157} {205) (10 (361}

Changes that relate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the C5M 168 {1) {123) {a4) -
. f:\:ﬁ:: :: lissg?sates that result in onerous contract losses or 14 @) ) 2 11
Contracts initially recognized in the period {51) 194 - 57 200

131 190 {125) 15 211
Changes that relate to past service
Changes that relate to-past service - adjustments to the LIC - - - - -
Insurance service result 142 33 {330) {150}
Finance {income) expenses from insurance contracts issued 1,154 27 118 1,304
Total amounts recognized in-comprehensive income 1,296 60 {212} 10 1,154
Cash flows
Premiums received 3,031 - - - 3,031
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid {2,125) - - - (2,125)
Insurance acquisition cash flows {398) B - - (388}
Total cash flows 508 - - - 508
Other Changes 129 22 19 {5} 165
Net balance:as at 31 October, 2025 s 19,605 1,962 1,787 76 23,440
Closing insurance contract liabilities 15,802 1,962 1,797 76 19,637
Closing insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 3,810 - - - 3,810
Closing insurance contract assets (7) - - - {7}
Net balance as at 31.October, 2025 $ 19,605 1,962 1,797 76 23,440
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11.  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS {continued)
2) Insurance contracts issued {continued)

il Reconciliation of the measurement components of insurance contract balances (continued)

2024
Present value Risk
. . of future cash adjustment CSM fair CSM cther Total
Insurance contracts issued for non value
flows .
financial risk
‘Opening insurance cantract liabilities § 11,212 1,654 2,132 &4 15,062
Opening insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 2,760 - - - 2,760
Opening insurance contract assets {43) 11 2 - {30)
Net balance as at 1 November; 2023 13,929 1,665 2,134 64 17,792
Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognized in profit or loss for the services provided - - {193) (8) {199}
Cha'nge in the risk adjustment for nonfinancial risk for the risk ) (137) ; . (137)
expired
Experience adjustments 23 - - - 23
23 (137} (193} (6) {313)

Changes that relate to future service
Changes in estimates that adjust the CSM 126 {4) {58} (64) -
Changes-in estimates that result in onerous contract losses or

reversal of losses 71 B } } 7
‘Contracts initially recognized in the period {161) 163 - 89 g1
36 159 (s8) 25 162
Changes that relate to past service
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC - - - - -
insurance service resuit 59 22 {251) 19 (151)
‘ Finance {income) expenses from insurance contracts issued 2,670 262 91 3 3,026
Total amounts recognized in comprehensive income 2,729 284 {160} 22 2,875
Cash fiows
Premiums received 3,327 - - - 3,327
Claims and other directly attributable expenses paid {1,886} - - - {1,886)
Insurance acquisition cash flows {352) - - - {352)
Total cash flows 1,088 - - - 1,089
Other Changes {75} (69) 16 {15) (143}
Net balance as at 31 October, 2024 3 17,672 1,880 1,990 71 21,613
Closing instrance contract liabilities 14,327 1,864 1,994 69 18,254
Clasing insurance contract liabilities - segregated funds 3,378 - - - 3,378
Closing-insurance contract assets {33) 16 (4) 2 (19)
Net balance as at 31 October, 2024 $ 17,672 1,880 1,990 71 21,613
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11,  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)
f) Reinsurance contracts held

i. Reconciliation of the liability for remaining coverage and incurred claims

2025

Assets for incurred claims
Assets for incurred

Assets for remaining

coverage b
Assets for claims under PAA
. incurred t . "
Excluding Loss- r.l:i‘mt; not :;E :Zf Risk Adj.
Rainsurance contracts heid toss-tecavery Recovery under PAA futufe for n.o " Total
component Component fin. Risk
cash flow
Operiing reinsurance contract fiabllities 5 {21) - 1 - - {20}
Opening reinsurance contract assets 1,658 - 78 20 1 1,757
Net balance as at 1 November, 2024 1,637 - 79 20 1 1,737
Allocation of reinsurance premiums paid {426) - - - - {428)
Ingurted claims recovered and other reinsurance service ; : 247 2 _ 240
expenses
Recovery of losses-and reversal on récovery of losses - 111 6 - - 117
Adjustments to assets for incurred claims - - - {1} 1 -
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers - 111 253 1 1 366
Investment components {2) - 2 - - -
Net income (expenses} from reinsurance contracts held (428} 111 255 1 I {60}
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held 51 - 2 3 1 55
Total amounts recognized in comprehensive income (377} 111 257 4 - (5)
Cash flows
Premiums paid net of ceding commissions and other 333 ) : i ) 133
directly attributable expenses paid
Recoveries from reinsurance - - (290} (12} . (302)
Total cash flows ' 333 - (290) (12) - 31
Other changes {106) ‘86 13 7 - -
Net bafance a$ at 31 October, 2025 $ 1,087 197 59 19 1 1,763
Closing reinsiirance contract liabilities {10) - - - - (10)
Ciosing reinsurance contract assets 1,497 197 59 15 1 1,772
Net balance as at 31 October, 2025 s 1,487 197 59 19 1 1,763
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11.  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

#)  Reinsurance cantracts helfd (continued)

I Reconcifiation of the liability for remaining coverage and incurred claims (continued)

2024

Assets for incurred claims

Assets for remalning : _
Assets for incurred

coverage _
Assetsfor ___ Claims under PAA
incurred .

) Iossi:t:zs:‘ri Recc]:_\?::\; claims no'_t gﬁls:g; Rnits:l: ':::1 Total

Reinsurance contracts held component Component under PAA future fin, Risk
cash flow

Opening reinsurance contract liabilities S {19} - . - 1 (18)
Opening reinsurance contract-assets 1,522 (4) 51 i3 - 1,582
Net balance as at 1 November, 2023 1,503 {4} si 13 1 1,564
Allocation of reinsurance pramiums paid {359} - - - - {359)
:;;uerxgsclaims recovered and other rginsurance service : 1 180 46 ) 397
Recovery of lossas and reversal on recovery of losses - 88 2 - - 90
Adjustments to assets for incurred claims - - {12) (3 - {15}
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers - a9 170 43 - 302
Investment components (2) - 2 - - -
Net income {expenses) frém reinsurance contractsheld (361) 89 172 43 - (57}
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held 177 - (8) (2) - 167
Total amounts recognized in comprehansive income (184) 89 164 41 - 110
Cash flows.
P_remiums paid net of ceding commissions and other 254 B } ) } 758
directly attributable expenses paid i
Recoveries from reinsurance 1 - {224} {2} - {225)
Taotal cash flows 255 - {224} (2) - 29
Other changes 63 {85) 88 {32} - 34
Net balance as at 31 October, 2024 s 1,637 - 79 20 1 1,737
Closing reinsurance-contract liabilities {21} - 1 - - (20}
Closing reinsurance contract assets 1,658 - 78 20 1 1,757
Net balaice as at 31 October, 2024 5 1,637 - 79 20 1 1,737
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11.

INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS {continued)

f}  Reinsurance contracts held {continued)

iR Reconciliation of the remaining coverage and incurred claims

2025
Present value ad'ustn?;:\: CSM fair
Reinsurance contracts held of future_cash } for non value CsM other Total
flows  Gnancial risk

Opening insurance contract liabilities [ {80) 7 - 53 (20}
Qpening insurance contract assets 591 544 737 {136) 1,736
Net balance as at 1 November, 2024 511 551 737 (33) 1,716
Changes that relate to current service
CSM recognized in profit or loss for the sérvices provided (87} 7 (80}
Change in the risk adjustment for nonfinancial risk for the risk expired - (59) - - {59}
Experience adjustments (38) - - - (38)
Changes that relate to current service (38} {59) (87) 7 177)
Changes that relate to future service -
Contracts initially recognized.in the period 33 86 - {18} 101
Changes in estimates thatadjust the CSM (69) {12) 82 (1) -
Changes in estimates that result in anerous cortract losses of reversal of 4 2 } 6
losses
Changes in recoverigs of losses on onerous underlying contracts that . ) 1 10 1
adjust the CSM '

(32) 76 83 {9) 118
Changes that relate to past service - - - - -
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC - - - - -
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held (70) 17 (5) 2) (59}
Finance {income) expenses from reinsurance contracts issued 22 q 37 (8) 55
Total amounts recognized in comprehensive income (48} 21 32 (10) {4)
Other changes 2 - 7 9 -
Cash-flows
Premiums paid 331 - - - 331
Armaunts recovered and other directly attributable expenses received {289) - - - {289)
Total cash flows 42 - - 42
Net balance as at 31 October, 2025 3 507 572 776 {102) 1,753
Closing reinsurance contract liabilities (16) 9 - 3) {10)
Closing reinsurance contract assets 523 563 776 {a9) 1,763
Net balance-as at 31 October, 2025 s 507 572 776 {102) 1,753
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11,

INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS (continued)

f)  Reinsurance contracts held (continued)

ji. Reconciliation-of the remaining coverage-and incurred claims {continued)

2024
Present value adjust; F::al: CSM fair
Reinsurance contracts held of future ca;h : .forr“non valu]e CSM other Total
flows  gnancial risk

‘Opening insurance contract liabilities {40) 5 20 {1) {18}
Opening insurance contract assets 309 469 847 {62) 1,563
Net bialarice as at 1 November, 2023 269 474 867 {63) 1,547
Changes that relate to current service

CSM recognized in profit or loss for the services provided - - (75) 7 {68}
Change in‘the risk adjustment for nonfinaniclal risk for the risk expired - {51) - - (51)
Experience:adjustments (20) 1 - - {19)
Chianges that relate to current service {20) (50} (75) (138)
Changes that relate to future service -
Contracts initially recognized in‘the period 11 73 - {48) 38
Changes in-estimates that adjust the.CSM 133 (13) {97} {23) -
Changes in-estimates that result in onerous contract losses or reversal of ) . ) )
losses

Chfinges'in recoveries of losses on orierous underlying contracts that R _ ) 55 54
adjust the CSM

144 60 {98) (16) 90

Changes that relate to past service {7) - - - {7}
Changes that relate to past service - adjustments to the LIC {n - - - {7}
Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held 117 10 {173) (2 (55}
Finance {income) expenses from reinsurance contracts issued 55 73 38 (6) 160
Total amolnts recognized in comprehensive income 172 83 (235} {15) 105
Other changes 77 {6} 5 (5} 71
Cash flows

Premiums paid 218 - - - 217
Amounts recovered and other directly attributable expenses received {225} - - - (225)
Total cash flows {7) - . N
Net balance as at 31 October, 2024 511 551 737 (83) 1,716
Closing reinsurance contract liabilities {80} 7 - 53 _(20)
Closing reifsurance contract assets 581 544 737 {136) 1,736
Net balance as at 31 October, 2024 511 551 737 {83) 1,716
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11.  INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS [continued)

g} Thecomposition and fair value of the underlying items for other insurance contracts with direct participation features included in
the Statements-of Financial Position, are.as follows:

As at October 31, 2025 2024
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term securities $ 2 s 28
Bonds and fong term debt 180 160
Common shares and investment funds 12 5
Mortgages 4 4
Term loans 20 21
Total supporting assets s 238 S 219

The Insurance revenue of $2,537MM includes $1,509MM related to the fair value approach used at transition.
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12.  SEGREGATED FUNDS

The Company offers certain individual variable insurance contracts that allow policyholders. to invest in segregated funds where any
amount invested is at the risk of the unitholder and subject to increase or decrease in valua. A liability for minimum réturn guaranteesis

recorded in the Company’s general account.

a) The following table shows the net:assets:

As at October 31, 2025 2024
Segregated funds net asséts
Cash 38 41,
Investment in mutual funds
Balanced 1,619 1,450
Bond 859 786
Equity 1,292 1,100
“Total mutual funds 3,770 3,336
Other liabilities, net 2 i
Total Segregated Funds Net Assets 3,310 3,378
b} The following table.shows change.in net assets:
For the year ended QOctober 31, 2025 2024
Change in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year 3,378 2,760
Additions {deductions):
Depasit-from policyholders 619 471
Net realized and unrealized gains 382 631
interest-and dividend a7 -80
Paymenit to policyholders (566) {485}
Management and administrative fees {90) {79)
Net assets, end df year 3,810 3,378
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OTHER ASSETS AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Other assets and Other liabilities consist of the following:

As at October 31, 2025 2024
Other assets {currenth:
Accrued investment income $ 224 5 158
Income tax receivable 108 89
‘Property and equipment 1 1
Other assets.(non current)
Deferrad pensioh assets (note 16} 39 37
Other assets 392 214
[ 764 S 499
Other liabilities (current):
Due to other insurers 5 2 5 4
Accounts payable and other lizbilities 178 139
Due to related companies (rote 17} 40 29
Other liabilities {(non-current):
Derivative liahilities {note 5 and note 6} 76 128
Other post employmentbenefits (note 16) 16 15
$ 310§ 315

INCOME TAXES
a} Deferred income taxes

i)  Recoverability of Deferred income taxes:

On a quarterly basis, the Company reviews the deferred tax asset, to determine whether it is probable that the benefits
associated with this asset will be realized; this review involves evaluating bath positive and negative evidence. The Company’s
deferred income tax asset represents temporary differences between:the financial reporting and tax bases of certain of the
‘Company’s-assets and liabilities. Overall, the Company betieves that, based on all available evidence, it is probable that the
deferred income tax assets will be realized through a combination of future reversals of temporary differences and taxable

incomea,

ii} The movement in net deferred income tax asset {liability) are as follows:

For the year ended Qctober 31, 2025
Pension-and
insurance Other post
Contract employment
liabilities benefits Qther Total
Balance, beginning of yedr 4582 56 512 $576
Charged to income {29) - 5 {24}
Charged to QU - (1) - {1)
‘Balance, end of year 4553 $5 5(7) $551
For the year ended Qctaber 31, 2024
Pension and
Insurance  Other post
Contract employment
labilities henefits Qther Total
Balance, beginning of year $700 6 {12) $694
Charged to income {118) 1 - (117}
Charged to OCI - (1} - (1)
Balance, end of year $582 56 5{12} $576
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14,

15.

INCOME TAXES {continued})

b} Income tax expense

The following table déscribes various components of income tax expense:

For the year ended October 31, 2025 2024
Current income tax expense (recovery)
Current year's tax 22 5 10
Adjustments of prior years, including tax disputes 44 {1)
73 g
Deferred income tax expense {recovery)
Origination and reversal of temporary tax differences 75 116
Adjustments of prior years, 'including tax disputes {50) 1
25 117’
Total income tax expense 98 S 128
¢} Reconciliation of statutory and effective income tax rates
The following table describes the reconciliation between statutory and effective tax rates:
For the year érided October 31, 2025 2024
Taxamount Tax % Tax amount Tax %
Combined basic Canadian federal and provincial tax /rate S 107 27% § 131 27%
Increase {decrease) in income tax resulting from:
Non-taxable investment incame {9) 2% (5) -1%
Other differences - -1% - -
Accounting income tax rate s g8 24% S 126 26%

Pillar Two income taxes may arise in or in relation to jurisdicticns where the-operations of the multinational enterprise such as, Royal
Bank of Canada (RBC), the ultimate parent entity, have an effective tax rate below 15%. Although the jurisdictions in which the Corporation
operates have introduced a domestic minimum tax, the effective tax rate in such jurisdictions is above 15%, and therefore, no incremental
tax have arisen for the Corporatiori under the Pillar Two legislation for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL
As at October 31, 2025 2024
Number Carrying Number Carrying
of shares value of shares value
Authorized
Unlimited common shares, without par value
Issued
Balance, beginning of year 232,003,187 5 2,351 172,003,187 § 1,751
Issued during the year 6,000,000 60 60,000,000 600
Balance, end of year 238,003,187 § 2_,411 232,003,187 & 2,351
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16.

PENSION AND OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

a}

b)

Plan characteristics and risks

The Company provides a number of programs, which provide pension and post-employmant benefits to eligible employees. On July
1, 2012 defined benefit plans were ciosed to new employegs. New employees are eligible to join the defined contribution plan.

Defined contribution pension ‘plans provide pension benefits- based on accumulated employee and Company contribitions. The
Company funds the registered defined henefit pension plans in accordance with actuarially determined amounts required to-satisfy
employee benefit obligations under current pension regulations. For the principal pension plan; the most recent funding actuarial
valuation was completed on December 31, 2024, and the next valuation will be completed no later than December 31, 2027.

The Company's primary-other post-employment benefit plans provide health, dental, disability and life Insurance coverage and cover
anumber of current and retired employees who are solely located in Canada. These plans are unfunded.

Planassets, benefit obligations, funded status and refated assumptions

As at October 31, 2025 2024
Pension OPEB Pension OPEB
Change in fair value of plan assets
Fair value plan assets, beginning of year 156 & - S 134 8 -
Interestincome 7 - 8 -
Remeasurement
Return on planassets {(excluding interest income)} 7 - 17 -
Company contributions - 1 - 1
Plan participant contributions 1 - 1 -
Benefits paid {5} 1 {4} (1)
Fair value of plan assets, end.of year 166 5 - 5 156 § -
Change in benefit obligations
Benefit obligations, beginning of year 119§ 15 5 01 S 13
Current service-cost 3 1 3 1
Interest-expense & 1 6. 1
Remeasurement
Actuarial gain from financial assumptions 2 - 14 2
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions 2 - 2 {1)
‘Plan participant contributions - - 1 -
‘Benefits paid {5} (1) (4} (1)
Benefit obligations, end of year’ 127§ 6 S 119 3 15
Unfunded obligations - 5 16 5 - 35 15
‘Wholly or partially funded obligations 127 - 118 -
Total benefit obligations 127§ 16 5 118 S 15
39 (16) 5 7 3 {15)

Surplus {deficit) {note 13)
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16.  PENSION AND OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

¢} Pension and other post employment benefit expense, and related assumptions

For the year ended October 31, 2025 2024
Pension OPEB Pension OPEB
Benefit expense
Currerit service cost 3 3 5 - 5 3 5 1
Net interest expense {2} - {2) (1)
Defined benefit cost 1 - 1 -
Defined contribution cost 5 - 3 -
Total benefit expense recognized $ 6 5 - 3 4 5 -

d) Remeasurement of employee benefit plans

Forthe year ended October 31 2025 2024
Pension OPEB Pensian OPEB
Actuarial gains/ {losses):.
Changes in demographic assumptions $ - 8 -5 ay s (1)
Changes in financial assumptions 2 - 14 2
Experience adjustments 3 - - -
Retarn on plan.assets (excluding interest {7} (18)

based on discount rate) - - - -

Total remeasurement $ 2 5§ -8 {5y & 1

g) Investment policies and strategies

Defined benefit pension plan assets are invested prudently in-order to-meet longer term pension-obligations at a reasonable cost.
The asset mix policy was developed within an asset/liability framework.

The holdings in certain investments, including common shares, emerging market equities, fixed income securities rated lower than
BBB and residential and commercial mortgages, canriot exceed a definéd percentage of the market value of our defined benefit
pension plans assets:

As at October 31, 2025 - 2024
Pension OPEB Pension OPEB

Plan assets by asset category

Equity securities 26% NfA 20% N/A
Debt securities 51% NfA 57% N/A
Other 23% N/A 23% N/A
Total 100% N/A 100% N/A
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16.

PENSION AND OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS [continued)

f)

g

Maturity profile

The following table presents the maturity profile of our defined benefit pension plan obligation.

As at Octaber 31 2025
Pension
Number of plan participants 1,071
Actual benefit payments 2025 3 -
Benefits expected to be paid 2026 5
Benefits expected to bé paid 2027 6
Benefits expected to be paid 2028 6
Benefits-expected to-be paid 2029 7
Benefits expected to be paid 2030 7
Benefits expected to be paid 2031-2035 40
Weighted average duration of defined benefit {in years) 15
Significant assumptions used in calculating the defined benefit pension and other post-employment expense
As at October 31, 2025 2024
Pension OPEB Pension OPEB
Weighted average assumptions tocalculate henefit obligations.
Discount rate 4,70% 4.68% 4.80% N/A
Salary increase rate 3.00% N/KX 3.00% N/A
Price inflation rate 2.00%6 N/A 2.00% N/A
Weighted average assumptions to calculate benefit expense
Discount rate for benefit obligations / net interest cost 4.80% 4.73% 5.70% 5.72%
Discount rate for service cost 4.90% 4,81% 5.60% 5.63%
Salary increase rate 3.00% N/A 3.00% 5.40%
Prite inflation rate 2.00% N/A 2.00% N/A
Assumed health care trend rate
Immediate trend rate N/A 3.28% N/A 3.28%
Ultimate trend rate NfA 3.28% N/A 3.28%
Year that the rate reaches ultimate trend rate NfA N/A N/A N/A
Mortality Life expectancy at-65 for Life expectancy at 65 for
a member currently at -a member currently at
Age 65 Ageds Age 65 Age 45
All employaes are based in Canada
Male 233 24.2 232 24.1
Female 244 253 24.3 252
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16.  PENSION AND OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Defined benefit Other post-
pension plans - employment
Increase plans - Increase
{decrease) in (decrease} in
For the year ended October 31, 2025 obligation o‘bligﬂon
Discount rate
Effective discount rates - 100 basis points 147 18
Effective discount rates + 100 basis points 111 14
Rate of increase in futiure compensation
Salary increase rate - 50 basis points 127 16
Salary increase rate + 50 basis points 127 16
Mortality
Maortality assumption + 1 year longevity 130 15
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17.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a)

Transactions with related parties

Due from related parties and Due to related parties are included in Other assets and Cther liabilities, respectively {note 13).

‘Amounts due from related companies and. amounts due to related companies @re subject to normal market terms and relate to
transactions in the normal course of business. Such transactions are measured at the amount of consideration established and
agreed to between the related parties.

i)

The amounts die from/to related companies are as follows:

As at October 31, 2025 2024

Due to companies under parent's control s 24§ 22

Due to ultimate parent 16 7
Due to related companies 5 a0 s 29

ii)

Tii)

iv)

v)

vi)

The counterparty of the interest rate and cross currency swaps and swaptions as described in note 6 and 18 is RBC Capital
Markets, a company under the ultimate parent's control. Net investment income includes-a net loss from derivatives of $289

{2024 -5408}.

During the year, the Company incurred $137 (2024 - $145) for salaries and other benefits, information technology, and other
charges; incurred.in general expenses {note 13), which ware paid or payable to related parties. Amounts outstanding to refated
parties as at respective year-ends have been included in the table above.

The counterparty of the securities repurchase of $3,625 (2024 - 52,621}, swaptions 59 (2024 - 0} and swaps of {108} {2024 -
5$(150)) as described in note 18, is RBC.Dominion Securities, a company under the ultimate parent’s control.

The investment in mutual funds as described in. note 12 is in the mutual funds of RBC Global Asset Management, a company
underthe ultimate parent's control.

RBC Investor Services, a company under the ultimate parent’s control, is theé custodian of the Company's investments as
described in note 5, segregated funds as described in note 12 and securities lending as described in note 18. Investment
expenses include $10 (2024 - $5) for these services.
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17,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS {continued)
b) Related parties

Related parties include associated companies over which we have direct or indirect. control or have significant influence and
postemployment benefit plans for the benefit of our employees. Related parties also include key management personnel (KMP), the
Board of Diractors {Directors), close family members of KMP.and Directors, and entities which are, directly orindirectly, controlled by or
Jointly controlled by KMP, Directors or their close family members.

Key management personnel and REC Director

KMP are defined as those persuns having authority and respansibility for planning, directing and controlling our activities, directly or
indirectly. They include the senior members of our organization called the Group Executive {GE}. The GE is comprised of the President
and Chief Executive Officer {CEC), and the Chief Officers and Group Heads, who report direetly ta the CEQ. The Directors-do not plan,
direct, or control the aciivities of the entity; they oversee the management of the business and provide stewardship.

Compensation of Key management personnel and RBC Directors

The following table presents the compensation paid, shareholdings and options held by Key Management Personnel and Directors.

For the year ended October 31, 2025 2024
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 5 ETR 31
Post-employment benefits 4 3
Share-based payments 70 67
$ 108 S 101

{1}  Includes the portion of the annual variable short-term incentive bonus that certain executives elected to receive in the form of
defarred share units. RBC Directors receive retainers but do nat receive salaries and other short-term.employee benefits.

{2) RBC Directors do not receive post-employment benefits.

{3} The Company offers stock bptions and other non-option share-based awards to KMP. Directors.do not receive stock options.or
any other non-option share-based awards.

Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving Key management personnel, RBC Directors and their close family members

In the normal course of business, RBC provides certain banking services to KMP, RBC Directors, and their close family members. These
transactions were of a similar standing and did not involve mare than the normal risk of repayment or present other unfavourable
features.

As at October 31, 2025, total loans to KMP, RBC Directors and their close family members were $16'(2024 - $16}. REC had no Stage 3
allowance or provision for credit losses relating to these loans as at and years ended October 31, 2025 and October 31, 2024, No
guarantees, pledges or commitments have been given to KMP, RBC Directors or their close family members.
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18.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS; CONTINGENCIES AND-GUARANTEES

a)

B)

<

d)

e}

:4]

Litigation

Inthe normal course of business the Company is engaged in litigation; however, none of this litigation is.expected to have a material
adverse effect on the financial position of the Company.

Pledged assets

As at October 31, 2025 and 2024 there were no pledged assets as margin reguirements for its equity index futures.

Securities lending

The Company -participates in a securities lending program managed by a federally regulated financial institution, whereby the
Company lends securities it owns to other financial institutions to allow them to meet delivery commitments. The Company receives
securities of equal or superior credit quality as collateral for securities loaned. As at October 31, 2025, securities with an estimated
fair value of $518 (2024 - $545) have been loaned, and securities with an estimated fair value of $544 (2024 - $572) have been
received as collateral.

Securities repurchasing

The Company participates in a repurchase agreement program where invested assets of the Company are sold under global master
repurchase agreements and repurchased at a future date, while retaining all of the credit; price and interest rate risks, and rewards
associated with the invested assets sold. These securities ptedged.do not qualify for derecognition, and remain on the hdlance sheet,
During the year ended October 31, 2025, the Company transacted $13,639 (2024 - $11,152) in invested assets repurchase
transactions with RBC Dominion Securities (note 17) and other counterparties. As at October 31, 2025, the Company carried
obligations related to assets sold under asset repurchase agreement; with fair values of $3,625 (2024 - $2,621)} associated with this
program. The amgunts pledged subject to the master agreement do not qualify for offsetting on the balance sheet. Transactions
with the $ame counterparty are only permitted to be offset’in an event of default or occurrence of other predetermined events. As
at October 31, 2025, 100% of assets sold under repurchase agreements could be séttled mature within 3 months. The total pledged
assets under the repurchase agreement are $3,667 {2024 - $2,622).

Guarantees

In the normal course of operaticns, the Company provides indemnifications that are often standard contractual terms to
counterparties in transactions such as purchase and sale contracts, service agreements, director/offiter contracts and leasing
transactions. These indemnification-agreements may require the Company to compensate the counterpartiesfor costs incurred as a
result of changes in laws and regulations (including tax legislation} or as a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions that may
be suffered by the counterparty as a conseguence of the transaction. The terms-of these indemnification agreements will vary based
upon the contract: The nature of the indemnification agreements prevents the Company from making a reasonable estimate of the
maximum potential amount that could be required to be paid to counterparties. Historically, the Company has not made any
significant payments under such indemnifications.- No amount has been acérued on the Balance Sheet with respect to these
indemnification agreements.

Commitments
Commitments to extend credit-represent commitment to funid mortgages.and term loans of $95 (2024 - $247). Investment trade in
the course of settlement were payable of $G {2024 - $0).

‘Swaps and swaptions pledged assets

During the year ended October 31, 2025, the Company transacted swaps and swaptions under a master swap contract agreement
with RBC Capital Markets (note 17}. Under this agreement the Company is-required to pledge collateral against negative exposures.
The securities pledged do not qualify for derecognition and remain on the balance sheet. The total amount of pledged assets under
this'agreement are $91 {2024 -5143).
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19.  INSURANCE SERVICE AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The following table sumimarizes Insurarice Service-and Other Operating Expenses:

Forthe year ended October 31, 2025 2024
Claims and benefits [ 1,757 3% 1,606
Salaries, wages and allowances 259 241
Defined benefit pension plan expense 3 3
Profassional and service fees and expenses 10 i2
Licenses and fees 2 5
Commissions 253 219
Losses and reversals of losses on gnerous contracts 204 183
Amortization of assets 13 10
Rent 3 3
Qutsourcing expanses 35 32
Technology and operations 61 43
Miscellaneous expenses 86 &8
Subtotal 2,680 2,430
Amounts attributed to insurance acquisition cash flows (371) {309}
Amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows 105 81
Total $ 2,424 $ 2,202
Represented by:

Insurance service expenses 2,364 2,148
Other operating expenses 60 54
Total [ 2,424 $ 2,202
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